
 
   

 

 
  Date of Publication 4 January 2023 

Witney Traffic Advisory  
Committee Meeting of Witney Town Council 
 

Tuesday, 10th January, 2023 at 2.30 pm 
 
To members of the Witney Traffic Advisory Committee - A Coles, M Brooker, D Enright, T Fenton, A Prosser, 
J Aitman, T Ashby, L Duncan, R Smith, C Hulme, T Bayliss, K Hickman, A Lyon, M Upton, D Miles and D Gambier 
(and all other Town Councillors for information).  
 

You are hereby summonsed to the above meeting to be held in the Gallery Room, The Corn Exchange, Witney 
for the transaction of the business stated in the agenda below.  
 

Admission to Meetings 
 

All Council meetings are open to the public and press unless otherwise stated. 
 

Numbers of the public will be limited, with priority given to those who have registered to speak on an item on 
the agenda. Any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting should contact the Committee Clerk 
derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk  in advance.  
 

 

Recording of Meetings 
 

Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 the council’s public meetings may be 
recorded, which includes filming, audio-recording as well as photography.  
 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings, please let the Town Clerk or 
Democratic Services Officer know before the start of the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   

 To receive and consider apologies for absence. 
 

2. Public Participation   

 Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting.  Any member of the public who so wishes 
may speak, at this point in the meeting, for a maximum of five minutes on any matter relating to an 
item on the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes   

    
 a) To adopt and sign as a correct  record the minutes of the meeting held on 27th September 

(copy enclosed)  (Pages 5 - 10) 

 b) Matters arising from the Minutes not covered in the Action Plan or subsequent items   

4. Oxfordshire County Council Reports   
 
 a) Traffic Schemes Area Operations - Oxfordshire County Council  (Pages 11 - 12) 

  To receive and consider the report from the Traffic Schemes Area Operations (North) team. 
 

 b) Traffic & Road Safety - Oxfordshire County Council  (Pages 13 - 14) 

  To receive and consider the report of the Traffic & Road Safety (North) team. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:derek.mackenzie@witney-tc.gov.uk


 
 

Mrs Sharon Groth FSLCC fCMgr 
Town Clerk 
 

Cllr Liz Duncan 
Mayor of Witney 

Town Hall, Market Square 
Witney 
Oxon 
OX28 6AG 

T: 01993 704379 
E: info@witney-tc.gov.uk 
 

w: www.witney-tc.gov.uk 

 

5. Witney High Street   

 To receive a progress update at the meeting from the Oxfordshire County Council team leading the 
Witney High Street Project team. 
 

6. Witney Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan  (Pages 15 - 102) 

 To receive and consider the draft Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan for Witney, produced 
by Oxfordshire County Council. 
 
The Committee may like to enter a response to the public consultation on this plan which is running 
until 20 January 2023. 
 

7. Public Transport Update   

 To receive an update from members, present on latest changes to public transport, if appropriate. 
 

8. Items Submitted to the Town Clerk   

 To receive any traffic or highway related correspondence submitted to the Town Clerk since the last 
meeting. 
 

 a) 20MPH on Woodstock Road  (Pages 103 - 104) 

  To receive a letter from the Headteacher of Wood Green School. 
 

 b) Cyclists and Enforcement of 20MPH Speed Limit  (Pages 105 - 106) 

  To receive an email from a resident regarding cyclists speeding over the new 20MPH speed 
limits. 
 

 c) Madley Park Pedestrian Crossing  (Pages 107 - 108) 

  To receive correspondence from Cllr R Smith regarding resident’s concerns and suggestions for 
the pedestrian crossing at Harvest Way/Barleyfield Way. 
 

9. Items Raised at the Meeting   

 To receive and consider any pressing matters from members which may be added to the next meeting 
agenda for consideration. 
 

10. Date of the Next meeting(s)   

 To receive the date of the next meeting of Witney Traffic Advisory Committee for information. 
 

 
 
 

 
Town Clerk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 2

mailto:info@witney-tc.gov.uk


 
 

Mrs Sharon Groth FSLCC fCMgr 
Town Clerk 
 

Cllr Liz Duncan 
Mayor of Witney 

Town Hall, Market Square 
Witney 
Oxon 
OX28 6AG 

T: 01993 704379 
E: info@witney-tc.gov.uk 
 

w: www.witney-tc.gov.uk 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 3

mailto:info@witney-tc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 

WITNEY TRAFFIC ADVISORY COMMITTEE MEETING 
 
 

Held on Tuesday, 27 September 2022 
 

At 2.30 pm in the Gallery Room, The Corn Exchange, Witney 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor A Coles (Chair) 
 

Councillors: A Prosser 
J Aitman 
T Ashby 

L Duncan 
R Smith 
 

 
Others: K Hickman Windrush Bike Project 
 A Lyon West Oxon Community Transport 
 D Miles Parish Transport Representative 
 D Gambier Witney Chamber of Commerce 

 
Officers: Adam Clapton Deputy Town Clerk 
 Claire Green Administration Support - Planning & 

Stronger Communities 
 Odele Parsons Oxfordshire County Council 
 Mike Wasley Oxfordshire County Council 

 
 no members of the public. 

  
 

 
T36   ELECTION OF CHAIR 

 
Nominations were sought for the position of Chair for the municipal year. 
 
It was proposed and duly seconded that Cllr Andrew Coles be elected Chair. There being no 
other nominations it was: 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, Cllr Andrew Coles be elected Chair of the Committee for the municipal year. 
 

T37   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Ted Fenton, Cllr Michael Brooker, Cllr Duncan 
Enright, Trevor Bayliss from Stagecoach, Chris Hulme from Thames Valley Police, and Mark 
Upton from the Oxfordshire Association for the Blind. 
 

T38   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3a



Witney Traffic Advisory - 27 September 2022 

 
2 

T39   TO ADOPT AND SIGN AS A CORRECT  RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 7 
JUNE 2022 (COPY ENCLOSED) 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, the minutes of the Witney Traffic Advisory Committee held on 7 June 2022 be approved 
and signed by the Chair. 
 

T40   MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES NOT COVERED IN THE ACTION PLAN OR 
SUBSEQUENT ITEMS 
 
There were no matters arising from the minutes of 7 June 2022. 
 

T41   TRAFFIC SCHEMES AREA OPERATIONS (NORTH) - OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
The committee received and considered the report of the Principal Officer concerning updates 
on several projects underway in Witney. Included within this were updates on the Windrush Bike 
Project Barriers Report, Schemes to be delivered from Windrush Place S106 funding, the Witney 
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP), the A40/B4022 Shores Green Access, High 
Street & Market Square (Traffic Restrictions & Active Travel), Bridge Street Area options, Draft 
Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP), Burwell Meadow Low Traffic Neighbourhood, 
Public Transport at Windrush Place, Avenue Two at Station Lane, Road Closure at The Angel 
Public House and Parking opposite Cogges Farm. 
 
On the works for the Windrush Bike Project Barriers, the Committee were updated that a 
timeframe had been requested but not yet provided. 
 
Members were updated that progress had been made with the Witney LCWIP over the summer. 
A member raised an issue with the traffic island on Witan Way (From Farm Mill Lane up to The 
Mill) and asked if it had been included in the infrastructure interventions. 
 
Members were keen to comment on the Witney High Street restrictions item. It was highlighted 
that there is growing community frustration at the lack of progress and that residents, business 
owners and all stakeholders need to see some plans and timeframes. The OCC Officer advised 
that they were working on dates for a series of consultations that would be open to the public. 
The Chair reminded that the Church Green residents’ group should be included as stakeholders. 
It was agreed that further discussion on this topic would be had later in the meeting at Agenda 
item 7.  
 
Members collectively advised that there had been very positive feedback on the new services for 
Centenary Way. However, Curbridge residents had expressed disappointment at the lack of 
notice that the Curbridge service was being withdrawn. Curbridge residents were not 
satisfactorily consulted and now don’t have a service to Carterton. 
 
Resolved: 
 
1. That, the report be noted; and 
2. That, OCC Officers will compile a list of Windrush Bike Project Barriers works, to be circulated 
to this Committee. The group will be updated on a works timeframe in due course; and 
3. That, OCC Officers will check that the Witan Way traffic island is included in the LCWIP; and 
4. That, the results of the traffic monitoring survey at Burwell will be shared to this Committee 
as soon as it is available. 

Page 6



Witney Traffic Advisory - 27 September 2022 

 
3 

 
Cllr A Prosser left the meeting at 3.30pm 

 
T42   WITNEY HIGH STREET - SIGNAGE & PHYSICAL FEATURES 

 
The Committee considered the current High Street signage and potential features which could 
support a future scheme which the County Council had received funding for. 
 
Members considered options provided by County Council officers on what should be completed 
in High Street in the short-term as interim options whilst the main public realm scheme was 
considered. A discussion was held, and a number of points raised. These included: 
 
- Better communications to keep residents and stakeholders informed. 
- If the planters were removed without any replacement barriers being installed the Hight 

Street might appear to be open to all traffic. 
- Introduction of a temporary rumble strip type road surface to indicate the start of a ‘zone’. 
- ‘Coming soon’ and ‘We are open’ type signage or information boards. 
- A reluctance for money to be spent on any ‘temporary’ measures. 
- ANPR to discourage offenders. 
- Increased presence of traffic and parking enforcement. 
- More focus now on pedestrian safety, in this temporary situation, the current setup is very 

dangerous with confusion for pedestrians and non-compliance from motorists. This is 
particularly true at the confluence of Corn Street, Market Square where there is a traffic 
island, and the buses must enter on the ‘wrong’ side of the road. 

- If the planters remain in place they should be made to look more permanent and planted 
better. And include signage with information – particularly that loading/unloading is 
permitted. 

 
Resolved: 
 
1. That, the verbal update be noted and, 
2. That, as a Committee, the preferred interim option out of those put forward by OCC, would 

be Option 2 – Retain the planters (with improved planting) in the interim, but with 
incorporated communications signage, loading/unloading signage, and wheels removed to 
make the planters look more permanent. 

 
T43   TRAFFIC & ROAD SAFETY - OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
The committee received and considered the Traffic & Road Safety Report from the OCC Area 
Operations Officer including the remaining lining programme. 
 
A member raised again that the ‘SLOW’ road marking hasn’t been re-instated on the resurfaced 
area on Valence Crescent. OCC Officer Mike Wasley advised that Councillors should email him 
directly with any outstanding requests and projects for the next year. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That Councillors email the Oxfordshire County Council Officer with lining requests for the coming 
year. 
 
 
 

Page 7



Witney Traffic Advisory - 27 September 2022 

 
4 

T44   PARKING AND OBSTRUCTIONS ON GRASS VERGES 
 
The Committee considered the issue of parking and obstructions on grass verges which had been 
raised at the previous meeting. 
 
The Deputy Town Clerk advised there didn’t appear to be a clear process on requests for 
bollards, recently a resident had been given conflicting information and the town council had 
been asked for a comment when it hadn’t previously, which was disappointing customer service. 
 
Members were advised that Oxfordshire County Council (OCC) did not have a particular budget 
or strategy for provision of bollard installation. Requests were considered on an individual basis 
and are sometimes match funded by OCC if there is a highways or safety issue. 
Where individuals want bollards and are prepared to pay for them, OCC will install them, at a 
cost to the resident. 
 
Resolved: 
 
1. That, the verbal update be noted and, 
2. That, future requests for bollards be directed to the Oxfordshire County Council Highways 

Team, further details are on the OCC ‘requesting street furniture’ page: 
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/street-maintenance-
z/street-furniture 

 
T45   WITNEY SPEED RESTRICTIONS 

 
The Committee were advised by County Council Officers that the anticipated date for 
implementation of the new signage for the scheme was the week commencing 10 October.  
 
There were still some legal issues the County Council had to complete but the project should be 
completed later in the year. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, the verbal update on implementation be noted. 
 

David Gambier left the meeting at 4pm 
 

T46   CONSULTATION - TRAFFIC CALMING AT THE LEYS, WITNEY 
 
The Committee received a consultation from Oxfordshire County Council for Traffic Calming 
measures at The Leys.  
 
A discussion was held with members were generally in favour of the scheme which would make 
the road safer and deter anti-social behaviour in the area. Members raised issues around the 
inclusivity of the scheme for tricycle users and the possibility of ‘reverse in’ signage. 
 
It was advised that if there were objections to the scheme, it would be referred to Committee at 
the County Council in November. 
 
Resolved: 
 
1. That, the consultation be noted and, 

Page 8

https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/street-maintenance-z/street-furniture
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/street-maintenance-z/street-furniture


Witney Traffic Advisory - 27 September 2022 

 
5 

2. That, the following consultation response be submitted to Oxfordshire County Council: 
 
Witney Town Council Traffic Advisory Committee welcome improvements to pedestrian 
safety. Members raised the issue of spacing on either side of the speed cushions and whether 
the proposed measures would be inclusive for tricycle users. The scheme must ensure that 
tricycle users have enough space to traverse the cushions and not be any increased risk of 
trikes tipping over. Further, it was suggested that signage could be included encouraging 
motorists to ‘reverse in’ to the parking spaces as an additional safety measure – motorists 
would be forward facing as they exit the parking space and join the lane. 

 
T47   CYCLING ON HIGHWAY 

 
The Committee received correspondence from a resident, as submitted via the Town Clerk, 
concerning cycling on the pavements and footpaths in Witney. 
 
Members discussed the issue and how to ensure users are more considerate to one another and 
whether there was an opportunity to communicate pedestrian and cycle safety to young users. 
The town council would be exploring issues and potential signage on its land separately. 
 
Resolved: 
 
1. That, the correspondence be noted and, 
2. That, Witney Town Council writes to schools to ask that cycle and pedestrian safety be 

mentioned in assemblies or appropriate channels; and 
3. That, Witney Town Council contacts the Educational Officer at the Fire & Rescue Service to 

ask if any collaboration could be initiated. 
 

T48   CHURCH GREEN - SAFETY CONCERNS 
 
The Committee received correspondence from a resident, as submitted via the Town Clerk, 
concerning traffic in the vicinity of Church Green and Henry Box School. 
 
Members agreed that education was once again a key issue and upon a query as to whether any 
lining improvement/road marking possibilities for Church Green would help, County Council 
officers advised that this type of marking can often lead to increased acceleration and speed and 
therefore risks being more dangerous. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That, the correspondence be noted. 
 

T49   ITEMS RAISED AT THE MEETING 
 
There were no other issues raised at the meeting. 
 

T50   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING(S) 
 
Members were advised that the next scheduled meeting of this committee would be on Tuesday 
10 January. 
 
 
 

Page 9



Witney Traffic Advisory - 27 September 2022 

 
6 

Resolved: 
 
That, the date of the next meeting be noted. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at: 4.17pm 

 
Chair 

Page 10



1 
 

 

Oxfordshire County Council Infrastructure Locality Team Update 
to Witney TAC  

January 2023 
 
 

Infrastructure Locality Team Update – contact Natalie Moore 
 

1. Windrush Bike Project Barriers Report 
Barrier removal has become an issue across Oxfordshire. Following internal discussion, it 
has been agreed that a workshop will be held in January 2023 (date to be confirmed) to 
discuss updated guidance including LTN 1/20 and Inclusive Mobility and agree Oxfordshire 
County Council's approach to barrier removal.  
 
This will be based on practical examples in Witney that have recently been assessed. Key 
stakeholders will be invited to this workshop and more information will be sent in due 
course. 

 

2. Windrush Place S106 West Witney – Active Travel Schemes 
Engineering colleagues continue to assess the feasibility and cost of the bridleway and two 
crossings on Deer Park Road. This work is expected to be completed shortly and the 
business case then submitted. 

 

3. Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) 
 
The draft Witney LCWIP has now been completed and is currently out for public 
consultation. The consultation can be found on our Let's Talk Oxfordshire portal here. The 
consultation will close on 20th January.  
 
Once the consultation closes, officers will review the comments and make changes to the 
LCWIP where appropriate, before taking the document through the formal process for 
adoption. 

 

4. A40/B4022 Shores Green, Access to Witney 
Further to Planning Application Regulation 25 responses been addressed by designer, 
Consultation commenced on 1st December 2022 for a 30-day period. We envisage all 
Regulation 25 to be addressed in January 2023 and currently targeting February for 
Planning Committee.  
 
Scopes for both Detailed Design and the Early Contractor Involvement for detailed design 
stage have been finalised and awaiting fee quotes to be received. Planned completion for 
the scheme has been scheduled for mid-2025 
 
Please direct any queries to a40corridor@oxfordshire.gov.uk.  

Please see webpage A40 Access to Witney | Oxfordshire County Council 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4a

https://letstalk.oxfordshire.gov.uk/witney-lcwip?next=/admin/sites/editors/home-page/live-preview
mailto:a40corridor@oxfordshire.gov.uk
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/roadworks/future-transport-projects/a40-improvements/a40-access-witney


2 
 

 

5. Bridge Street Area Options Appraisal Report 
 

Pell Frischmann have been commissioned (through a competitive process) to conduct a 
piece of transport planning work, an Options Appraisal report, to look at the Bridge Street 
area and challenge, and potentially confirm, the long-held assumption that the proposed 
West End Link 2 is sequentially the next major infrastructure scheme for Witney after the 
A40 /B4044 Shore’s Green west facing slips is built. Shore’s Green is a committed scheme. 
The study will look again at a range of transport measures to address the transport and 
travel and air quality issues that exist in the Bridge Street area and how to improve 
connectivity to/from the north/east of the town. The study will output a preferred option.  
 
Engagement with stakeholders is being planned for February 2023. The outputs will help 
support the Local Plan review process.  

 

6. Low Traffic Neighbourhood (LTN) - Burwell Meadow 
The Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) data will be analysed by OCC officers in 
the New Year.  An update will be provided at the next TAC meeting. 

Page 12



Witney TAC – 10th January 2023 

Traffic & Road Safety Report 

 

Lining Planned Works 
 
We are currently compiling next year’s programme, any input in this would be 
appreciated, below is what is on the list to date. 
 

B4022 Jubilee Way to 
South Leigh junction & 
Shores Green area 

Road markings Q1, Q2 2023 

Burford Road Junction and approach lines at 
Davenport Rd and Springfield Park 

Q1, Q2 2023 

Thorney Leys x 2 Junction markings and approach lines 
at both junctions with Thorney Leys 
Rd 

Q1, Q2 2023 

Burwell Meadow Junction Markings and approaches x 
2 

Q1, Q2 2023 

Tower Hill mini 
roundabout 

Junctions from Burford Rd both sides 
& Tower Hill, including lane lines 
coming down from West Witney and 
hatching 

Q1, Q2 2023 

Windrush Valley Rd layby 
junction 

Junction markings and approach lines Q1, Q2 2023 

West End Nos. 39 to end DYL into Crawley Rd 
and Hailey Rd 

Q1, Q2 2023 

Welch Way Parking Restrictions Q1, Q2 2023 

Station Lane All handwork including adopted areas 
on Station Lane Ind. Estates 

Q1, Q2 2023 

A415 All handwork between Burwell Drive 
junction and Ducklington roundabout 

Q1, Q2 2023 

Newland 2 x mini roundabouts and arrows at 
junction of A4095 and B4022 

Q1, Q2 2023 

 
 
Traffic and Road Safety Current Project/s 
 
The ‘Leys’ Traffic Calming: - Consultation now complete  
 
The consultation received significant number of objections, 22 responses were 
received during the formal consultation, comprising of 13 objections (59%), three 
expressions of concern (14%), four in support (18%), and two non-objections.  
 
Report deferred to next available CMD to allow time to review and provide a robust 
response to the objections, for which input from WTC and TAC would be greatly 
appreciated. 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4b



 
Highways and Drainage, Area Ops Team 
 
Planned Works 
 
An interactive and continually updated map of the major maintenance programmes is 
always available on the County Council’s website, via following the link; Map 
(highway-iams.uk)    
 

Page 14

https://oxfordshire.highway-iams.uk/Live/PBLC_ANON/PIP/?cg=scheme
https://oxfordshire.highway-iams.uk/Live/PBLC_ANON/PIP/?cg=scheme


Draft Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft Witney Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan 

 
December 2022 

 
 

 
Enquiries: activetravelcherwellandwest@Oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

            

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

2 

 

Contents 

Figures .................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Tables ..................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Contents of Appendices ................................................................................................................................... 7 

Acknowledgements ............................................................................................................................................ 8 

Executive summary ........................................................................................................................................... 9 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................................ 11 

1.1. What is the Witney LCWIP? ....................................................................................................... 11 

1.2. Developing the Witney LCWIP .................................................................................................. 11 

1.3. Why are cycling and walking important? ............................................................................... 13 

1.4. Why is the LCWIP important for Witney now? .................................................................... 14 

1.5. Vision ................................................................................................................................................... 14 

1.6. Targets ................................................................................................................................................ 15 

2. Background ............................................................................................................................................... 16 

2.1. Local geography .............................................................................................................................. 16 

2.2. LCWIP study area........................................................................................................................... 16 

2.3. Policy context ................................................................................................................................... 19 

2.4. Demographics .................................................................................................................................. 20 

2.5. Environment ...................................................................................................................................... 20 

2.6. Travel and transport  ..................................................................................................................... 21 

3. Network plan for cycling ....................................................................................................................... 23 

3.1. Methodology ..................................................................................................................................... 23 

3.2. Proposed cycling improvements ............................................................................................... 29 

3.3. Complementary measures .......................................................................................................... 44 

4. Network Map for Walking ..................................................................................................................... 45 

4.1. Methodology ..................................................................................................................................... 45 

4.2. Proposed walking improvements .............................................................................................. 49 

4.3. Complementary measures .......................................................................................................... 58 

5. Prioritisation of improvements and Packaging of improvements .......................................... 59 

5.1. Prioritisation of improvements.................................................................................................... 59 

5.2. Packages of Improvements ........................................................................................................ 75 

Page 16



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

3 

 

5.3. Appraisal ............................................................................................................................................ 78 

6. Integration and Application .................................................................................................................. 79 

6.1. Embedding the Witney LCWIP .................................................................................................. 79 

6.2. Reviewing the Witney LCWIP .................................................................................................... 80 

7. Glossary ...................................................................................................................................................... 82 

 

  

Page 17



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

4 

 

Figures 

Figure 1: Witney LCWIP geographic scope 18 

Figure 2: Cycle desire line classification – Witney and surrounding areas 24 

Figure 3: Cycle desire line classification – Witney 25 

Figure 4: 5km and 10km cycling catchments 26 

Figure 5: Types of improvements 29 

Figure 6: Full cycling network (existing and proposed) - Witney 30 

Figure 7: Full cycling network (existing and proposed) – Witney and surrounding areas 31 

Figure 8: Proposed cycling improvements - Witney 32 

Figure 9: Proposed cycling improvements - South 33 

Figure 10: Proposed cycling improvements - East 34 

Figure 11: Proposed cycling improvements - North 35 

Figure 12: Proposed cycling improvements - West 36 

Figure 13: Roundabout with protected space for cycling at Fiveways Roundabout 42 

Figure 14: Woodstock Road segregated cycle track 43 

Figure 15: 2km walking catchment 45 

Figure 16: Walking network map with route hierarchy 47 

Figure 17: Types of walking improvements 49 

Figure 18: Proposed walking improvements - Witney 50 

Figure 19: Proposed walking improvements – West Witney 51 

Figure 20: Proposed walking improvements – East Witney 52 

Figure 21: Cost adjusted delivery timescales 62 

Figure 22: Proposed improvements by short, medium and long term delivery timescale - 

Witney 73 

Page 18

https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023268
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023268
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023269
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023269
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023271
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023271
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023273
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023273
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023274
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023274
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023275
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023275
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023276
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023276
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023277
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023277
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023278
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023278
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023279
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023279
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023280
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023280
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023281
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023281
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023282
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023282
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023285
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023285
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023286
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023286
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023287
https://oxfordshirecountycouncil.sharepoint.com/sites/OG-WitneyLCWIP/Shared%20Documents/General/Draft%20LCWIP/LCWIP%20and%20associated%20documents/Witney%20LCWIP%20rev%201.0.docx#_Toc120023287


Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

5 

 

Figure 23: Proposed improvements by short, medium and long term delivery timescale – 

Witney and surrounding area 74 

Figure 24: Delivery packages 75 

Figure 25: East Witney delivery packages 76 

Figure 26: West Witney delivery packages 77 

 

 

 

Page 19



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

6 

 

Tables 

Table 1: Key policies, strategies, and guidance ................................................................................. 19 

Table 2: List of all proposed cycling improvements........................................................................... 37 

Table 3: List of all proposed walking improvements ......................................................................... 53 

Table 4: Prioritisation criteria ...................................................................................................................... 60 

Table 5: Prioritised improvements in ranked order ............................................................................ 63 

Table 6: Total cost of packages ................................................................................................................ 78 

Table 7: Proposed improvements with funding secured ................................................................. 80 

 

 

Page 20



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

7 

 

Contents of Appendices 

Appendix A: Background information 

1. Policy context detail 

2. Deprivation  

3. Health 

4. Conservation area  

5. Air Quality Management Area 

6. Flood risk  

7. Current travel patterns 

8. Traffic flows 

9. Collision statistics  

10. Propensity to Cycle Tool 

11. Trip generators  

12. Future development and transport schemes 

13. Let’s Talk consultation findings  

 

Appendix B: Audit output report    

Appendix C: Scheme drawings  

Appendix D: Detailed package table 

 

 

 

Page 21



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

8 

 

Acknowledgements 

Special thanks go to all those who have been involved in developing the plan, in particular 
the volunteers who sit on the Steering Group. Your local knowledge and dedication to 
developing the plan has been invaluable. Special thanks also goes to those who gave up 
their time to participate in the walking and cycling audits. These were long days, but your 
help in assessing the whole Witney area by foot and bike has led to a well-informed Local 
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan.  
 

Page 22



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

9 

 

Executive summary 

The climate emergency, health inequalities and economic uncertainty are some of the key 
challenges facing us. National and local policy have set ambitious targets to reduce pollution 
levels and create healthier and happier communities - cycling and walking are important in 
facilitating this.  
 
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs) provide a prioritised list of 
improvements to the cycling and walking experience of a place, which support more people 
to cycle and walk for short journeys or as part of longer journeys. LCWIPs are a policy 
requirement in Oxfordshire’s Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (LTCP) and supporting 
Active Travel Strategy. LCWIPs are also an important component of the Area Travel Plans, 
which apply policies in LTCP locally.  
 
The Witney LCWIP was developed in collaboration with stakeholders, to ensure local views 
are reflected. Department for Transport (DfT) technical guidance for producing LCWIPs, and 
national and local policies were also followed.  
 
The vision is that ‘by 2033, Witney will have safe, convenient, and well-connected walking 
and cycling networks that are accessible for people of all abilities, ages and backgrounds. 
These networks will connect people to where they want to go, including excellent routes to 
access public transport. Walking and cycling will become the everyday choice for short 
journeys, or as part of longer journeys combined with using public transport, in Witney and 
beyond. A culture of walking and cycling will be achieved, creating a thriving, healthy and 
vibrant community, and making Witney a great place to live, work and visit’. 
 
This LCWIP has produced a network of cycling routes (categorised as primary, secondary, 
and local) and a network of walking routes (categorised as prestige/primary, secondary, link 
footways, and local access footways) in Witney. The existing cycling and walking provision 
across these networks have been audited to determine what improvements are needed to 
make cycling and walking a more coherent, direct, safe, comfortable, and attractive 
experience for everyone.  
 
A prioritised list of improvements has been produced following the audit process and based 
on a range of factors, including whether road safety will be improved, and the environmental 
impact. Improvements prioritised highly include provision of crossings, segregated cycle 
tracks, lighting, and footway widening. In addition, major schemes, such as the provision of 
protected space for cycling at Fiveways Roundabout, have been proposed. Alongside this, 
most individual improvements have been grouped into eleven packages to create cycling 
and walking routes, including a package of 8 improvements along Woodstock Road. 
 
The prioritised list of improvements will guide the funding that is sought by Oxfordshire 
County Council (OCC) and where funding is spent, so that local needs are met. Funding 
comes from a variety of sources, including developer contributions and central government 
bids. 
 

Page 23



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

10 

 

The Witney LCWIP will be reviewed approximately every two years to ensure that it remains 
aligned with policy and reflects local needs. The level of change in cycling and walking 
numbers will be monitored as part of this process, to understand the effectiveness of the 
LCWIP and the progress that is being made in achieving the vision for cycling and walking 
in Witney. Modifications to the Witney LCWIP will be made if necessary.  

Page 24



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

11 

 

1. Introduction  

This chapter will explain what the Witney LCWIP is and why cycling and walking are 
important. The vision for cycling and walking in Witney and targets to measure the success 
of this are also set out.   

1.1. What is the Witney LCWIP? 

The Witney LCWIP is an evidence-based plan for improving the cycling and walking 
experience in Witney and to surrounding towns and villages for everyone. This LCWIP 
includes a list of prioritised improvements, which will take different timescales to implement 
(short - less than 3 years, medium - 3-5 years, long term - more than 5 years). When 
implemented, these improvements will make it easier for people to choose cycling (by all 
bike types) and walking (including wheeled users) for all or part of their journeys in the area. 
This is an evolving plan that will guide spending of future funding. 

1.2. Developing the Witney LCWIP 

This plan has been developed in consultation with local stakeholders to reflect local views. 
DfT technical guidance on producing LCWIPs has also been followed.1 This approach 
ensures this LCWIP aligns with national and local ambitions, as set out in DfT’s Gear 
Change vision document and Oxfordshire’s LTCP (2022).2, 3 These aim to address the 
climate emergency and transform our streets by making cycling and walking the natural 
choice for short journeys or as part of longer journeys. 

 

 

 

 

1 Department for Transport, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans Technical Guidance for Local 
Authorities, 2017, 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cy
cling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf  

2 Department for Transport, Gear Change, A bold vision for cycling and walking, 2020, 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/g
ear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf  

3 Oxfordshire County Council Local Transport and Connectivity Plan 2022 – 2050, 2022, 
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-connecting-
oxfordshire/LocalTransportandConnectivityPlan.pdf  

Page 25

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908535/cycling-walking-infrastructure-technical-guidance-document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904146/gear-change-a-bold-vision-for-cycling-and-walking.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-connecting-oxfordshire/LocalTransportandConnectivityPlan.pdf
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/file/roads-and-transport-connecting-oxfordshire/LocalTransportandConnectivityPlan.pdf


Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

12 

 

DfT guidance  

There are six stages to the development of an LCWIP, as set out by DfT in their technical 
guidance for writing LCWIPs.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Steering group 

The Witney LCWIP was produced in collaboration with local stakeholders, including: 

• OCC councillors for the Witney area  

• West Oxfordshire District Council (WODC) officers 

• Witney Town Council councillors 

• Windrush Bike Project  

• Sustrans 

A steering group was formed with local stakeholders and meetings took place approximately 
every six weeks. Key aspects of the project, such as the geographic scope and network 
mapping, were discussed. The purpose of the steering group was to ensue local concerns 
and ideas are reflected in the LCWIP. 

 

 

4 Department for Transport (see notation 1) 

1. Determining Scope - including deciding the geographic extent and 
producing a stakeholder engagement plan 

2. Gathering information - including reviewing the demographics, 
environment, and existing travel patterns of the area   

3. Network plan for cycling – identifying where people travel, creating 
a network of cycling routes and suggesting improvements    

4. Network plan for walking – identifying where people travel, creating 
a network of walking routes and suggesting improvements    

5. Prioritising improvements – deciding which improvements to 
deliver first when funding becomes available    

6. Integration and application – outlining how the LCWIP will be 
applied to and included in policies and strategies     

Page 26



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

13 

 

Public engagement  

An online public engagement activity took place between November 2021 – January 2022, 
titled ‘Suggest walking and cycling improvements in Witney’. This asked people to identify 
where improvements are needed in Witney to make cycling and walking safer and more 
accessible, and what these improvements should be. Respondents could mark their 
thoughts on a map and leave comments. Responses were analysed and included in the 
network auditing stage. Details of the analysis can be found in Appendix A, section 13. 

Consultant support 

Consultants Pell Frischmann supported the development of this LCWIP and led on stages 
3-5 detailed above. 

1.3. Why are cycling and walking important?5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5 Gear Change, A bold vision for cycling and walking, Department for Transport, 2020 

Health: Cycling and walking can improve physical and mental health and 
reduce the likelihood of many illnesses and disabilities. Physical inactivity 
results in 1 in 6 deaths in the UK for example (DfT, 2020). 

 
Environment: Cycling and walking can improve air quality by emitting no air 
pollutants during use. Improved air quality can prevent 8,300 premature 
deaths per year (DfT, 2020).  

Place shaping: Cycling and walking can reduce noise, air pollution and 
severance caused by busy roads and create more pleasant community 
spaces. Better connected places also help to address inequalities.  

Economic: Cycling and walking incur lower personal costs. Physical 
inactivity costs the NHS over £8 billion per year, whilst cycling contributes 
over £5 billion to the economy every year (DfT, 2020). 

Page 27



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

14 

 

1.4. Why is the LCWIP important for Witney now? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.5. Vision  

The vision for cycling and walking in Witney (which the LCWIP will help to deliver), was 
developed in collaboration with stakeholders and reflects their aspirations for Witney.  

 

Vision for cycling and walking in Witney 

By 2033, Witney will have safe, convenient, and well-connected walking and cycling 
networks that are accessible for people of all abilities, ages and backgrounds. These 
networks will connect people to where they want to go, including excellent routes to 
access public transport. 

Walking and cycling will become the everyday choice for short journeys, or as part of 
longer journeys combined with using public transport, in Witney and beyond. A culture 
of walking and cycling will be achieved, creating a thriving, healthy and vibrant 
community, and making Witney a great place to live, work and visit. 

 

 

 
High car usage in Witney for short 

journeys  

 

 

Health and wellbeing benefits for 
Witney’s population 

 
Poor air quality in Witney  

 

 

Climate emergency  

 

 

Compact size of Witney suitable for 
cycling and walking 

 

 

Key component of the Witney Area 
Travel Plan and LTCP  

 

Page 28



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

15 

 

1.6. Targets 

To measure the success of the Witney LCWIP and ensure the vision is achieved, the 
following targets have been set.   

 

 

These targets reflect those in Oxfordshire’s LTCP and Active Travel Strategy.  

*Target 2 data was calculated from Sport England’s 2015-17 Active Lives Survey, which is 
a national survey that asks people in England about their participation in physical activity.6   

 

6 Active Lives Survey, Sport England, https://www.sportengland.org/research-and-data/data/active-lives  

1. Zero deaths/injuries to people cycling and walking in Witney and routes 
between surrounding towns and villages by 2050 

 

2. Increase cycle trips from a baseline of 50,000 to 100,000 cycle trips per 
week in West Oxfordshire by 2031*  

 

Page 29

https://www.sportengland.org/research-and-data/data/active-lives


Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

16 

 

2. Background 

This chapter will summarise the data and knowledge that has informed the decision-making 
in this LCWIP and includes defining the geographic scope and a review of policy, 
demographics, health, environment, travel and transport, and current travel patterns. Full 
details can be found in Appendix A. 

2.1. Local geography 

Witney is the largest town in West Oxfordshire (with a population of over 29,000) and is a 
service centre for the surrounding rural area (ONS, 2020).7 This rural area includes the 
villages of Ducklington, South Leigh, Crawley, Hailey, New Yatt, North Leigh, Long 
Hanborough, Curbridge, Brize Norton and Minster Lovell, which together have a population 
of over 15,000 (ONS, 2020).8  

Witney is situated north of the A40 (a strategic road connecting Witney to Oxford), west of 
the M40, and east of the M5 and Cheltenham. Witney is bisected by the A4095, A415 and 
B4022, which are important connections to the surrounding area.  

Witney is connected by frequent bus services to Oxford (Stagecoach S1, S2 and H1), and 
many Oxfordshire towns including Carterton (Stagecoach S1 and H1 and Pulham’s Coaches 
19); Woodstock, Burford and Long Hanborough (Stagecoach 233); Abingdon (Pulham’s 
Coaches 15). There are also community services connecting local communities to Witney 
town centre.  

There is no direct train service for Witney. The closest station is Hanborough Station, 
approximately 9km northwest of Witney High Street. This provides regular services between 
Worcester, Oxford, and London. 

2.2. LCWIP study area 

The geographic scope of this LCWIP was decided in consultation with local stakeholders 
and covers: 

• Witney town - including the existing built-up area and proposed and approved 
residential and employment areas in north, east and west Witney 

• Key cycle connections beyond Witney including: 

o School trips - villages within the catchment area of Wood Green and The 
Henry Box secondary schools 

 

7 ONS, Ward-level population estimates, 2020, 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/dataset
s/wardlevelmidyearpopulationestimatesexperimental 

8 ONS (see notation 7) 

Page 30

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/wardlevelmidyearpopulationestimatesexperimental
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/wardlevelmidyearpopulationestimatesexperimental


Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

17 

 

o Witney to Hanborough Station – supporting sustainable longer journeys by 
multiple transport modes 

o Witney to Brize Norton/Carterton – supporting commutes to RAF Brize 
Norton 

o Connections to strategic routes – including the A40 and onwards towards 
the proposed B4044 Eynsham to Botley cycle path 

Page 31



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

18 

 

 
Figure 1: Witney LCWIP geographic scope 

 1: Witney LCWIP geographic scope 

Source: Open Street Map, 2021 

P
age 32



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

19 

 

2.3. Policy context  

Policy informs decision making by presenting evidence based best practice and targets. 
There are national and local policies that apply to this LCWIP. A summary of key relevant 
policies is provided below. 

Table 1: Key policies, strategies, and guidance 

Policy/Strategy/Guidance Purpose 

National   

Cycling and Walking Investment 
Strategy, Department for 
Transport (2017) 

Outlines steps for making cycling and walking the 
natural choice of travel for journeys.  

Gear Change: A bold vision for 
cycling and walking, Department 
for Transport (2020) 

Sets actions and design principles to support an 
increase in cycling and walking. 

Cycle Infrastructure Design, Local 
Transport Note 1/20, Department 
for Transport (2020) 

Guidance for the design of cycle infrastructure that is 
coherent, direct, safe, comfortable, and attractive for 
everyone.  

Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plans – Technical 
Guidance for Local Authorities, 
Department for Transport (2017) 

Guidance for producing LCWIPs. This recommends 
an approach that follows six stages – determining 
scope, gathering information, network planning of 
cycling, network planning for walking, prioritising 
improvements and integration and application. 

Local  

Local Transport and Connectivity 
Plan 5 (LTCP) 2022 –2050, 
Oxfordshire County Council 
(2022)  

Sets the long-term ambition for transport in 
Oxfordshire. This includes creating a ‘safe, net-zero 
Oxfordshire transport system’, and cycling and 
walking is a key component of this. LTCP will be 
supported by area specific travel plans, and LCWIPs 
are key components of these.  

Oxfordshire Cycling Design 
Standards, Oxfordshire County 
Council (2017) 

Guidance on the design of inclusive cycling 
infrastructure. 

Oxfordshire Walking Design 
Standards, Oxfordshire County 
Council (2017) 

Guidance on the design of inclusive walking 
infrastructure. 

West Oxfordshire Local Plan 
2031, West Oxfordshire District 
Council (2018) 

Sets a vision for West Oxfordshire that includes 
alleviating traffic congestion and improving air 
quality and journey times by reducing reliance on 
private vehicles and encouraging cycling, walking, 
and public transport use. 

 

Page 33



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

20 

 

2.4. Demographics 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.5. Environment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deprivation 

Areas of deprivation in Central, East 
and South Witney wards and within 
the surrounding rural area. Improved 
cycling and walking connections can 
help to reduce the level of deprivation. 

 

 

 

 

 

Health  

High levels of physical activity in most 
areas of Witney. This presents an 
opportunity for more trips to be made 
by cycling and walking.  

 

 

 

Conservation 

Witney town centre and the 
surrounding Windrush Valley are 
designated conservation areas. This 
restricts the changes that can be 
made in some locations. 

 

 

 

 

Air quality 

Poor air quality on A4095 Bridge 
Street has resulted in its classification 
as an Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA). This negatively impacts 
people’s health.  

 

 

 

 

 

Flooding 

The River Windrush presents a flood 
risk in Witney and the surrounding 
area. Flooding can prevent people 
accessing services and amenities and 
cause long-term damage to 
infrastructure.  

 

 

 

 

Rurality  

The area surrounding Witney is 
largely rural. This makes cycling and 
walking challenging due to distance, 
lack of safe, designated cycling and 
walking routes, and topography.  

 

 

 

Page 34



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

21 

 

2.6. Travel and transport 9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

9 Census Data, Local Area Reports, Office for National Statistics, 2011, 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea 

 

Compact town  

Witney has an built-up area of less 
than 5km east to west and 3km north 
to south. A wide range of trips can be 
satisfied within a short travel distance, 
providing an opportunity for 
increasing cycling and walking. 

 

 

 

High car dependency 

There is a preference in Witney for 
private vehicle travel, particularly for 
commuting. In Witney only 18% of 
commutes less than 2km were cycled 
or walked pre-Covid (Census, 2011). 

 

 

 

Congestion 

Congestion is an issue in Witney, 
particularly during peak periods 
around schools and employment 
sites. This can interrupt cycle 
journeys and cause delays to buses. 

 

 

 

Collisions 

Collisions involving people cycling 
and walking have occurred in Witney. 
Many have taken place at junctions, 
including the Fiveways roundabout 
(Tower Hill/Welch Way/Corn Street/ 
Ducklington Lane/Curbridge Road). 
This deters people from cycling and 
walking.  

 

 

 

 

Existing cycling and walking 
networks 

There is a comprehensive cycling and 
walking network in Witney. However, 
some routes are poor quality, 
(including no crossings and uneven 
surfaces), which discourages people 
from cycling and walking.  

 

 

Propensity to cycle 

Cycling is more common on certain 
routes in Witney and the surrounding 
area. There is the potential to 
increase the number of people cycling 
with infrastructure improvements and 
electric bikes. 

 

 

Page 35

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea


Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

22 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Trip generators  

Witney provides many services and 
amenities, including shops, parks, 
schools and a hospital. It is important 
that people can travel to these by 
cycling and walking; this improves a 
person’s health and lowers their 
carbon impact.  

 

Future development and transport 
schemes  

Witney’s population will grow with the 
allocation of two housing sites (in the 
east and north). Proposed 
infrastructure schemes will have a 
positive impact on travel within Witney 
and the surrounding area.  

 

 

Page 36



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

23 

 

3. Network plan for cycling 

This chapter explains the methodology used to develop the network plan for cycling and 
associated proposed improvements in Witney and the surrounding area.  

The development of the cycle network has been an iterative process, combining the analysis 
of data collected in Stage 2, site audits and stakeholder engagement.  

An understanding of where people want to travel was first established by identifying trip 
generators (places people go to and from) and cycle desire lines (the routes people use) to 
connect people to these trip generators. Routes that were deemed important were then 
audited using the Route Selection Tool (RST) and local knowledge. A total of three site 
audits were undertaken for cycling in Witney and the surrounding area. The Audit Output 
Report can be found in Appendix B.  This resulted in the identification of a network that was 
suitable for cycling, either currently or with improvements.  

3.1. Methodology 

Identifying trip generators 

Trip generators have been identified and geographically clustered to understand where 
people want to cycle to and from. Trip generators largely relate to main residential areas 
and places such as the town centre, supermarkets, leisure centres, schools and transport 
hubs. Future proposed developments in east and north Witney have also been incorporated 
within this. Appendix A section 11 shows trip generators in Witney and the surrounding 
area.  

Identifying cycle desire lines 

Following the identification of trip generators, a cycle desire line network in Witney and the 
surrounding area was developed using the Propensity to Cycle Tool (PCT) (which uses 2011 
Census journey to work data) and local knowledge. The cycle desire line network shows the 
routes people want to cycle regardless of whether they are currently suitable for cycling. 
Figure 2 and Figure 3 illustrate this cycle desire line network. 

The PCT classifies these routes as:  

• Primary – high flows of people cycling are forecast along desire lines that link 
large residential areas to places such as the town centre 

• Secondary – medium flows of people cycling are forecast along desire lines that 
link to places such as schools, colleges and employment sites 

• Local – lower flows of people cycling are forecast along desire lines that cater for 
local cycle trips, often providing links to primary or secondary desire lines 

The primary inter-urban routes include the connection between Carterton and Witney and 
between Hanborough Station and Witney. Within Witney, Fiveways roundabout (Welch 
Way/Corn Street/Ducklington Lane/Curbridge Road/Tower Hill) is a key part of the network 

Page 37



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

24 

 

desired by people cycling due to its connections across Witney town centre. The secondary 
routes include most main roads, connecting schools and employment sites. 

The suitability of these desire line routes for inclusion in the final cycle network is determined 
through the subsequent auditing process. 

 
Figure 2: Cycle desire line classification – Witney and surrounding areas 

Page 38



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

25 

 

 
Figure 3: Cycle desire line classification – Witney 

To add further context to the cycle desire line network, a 5km and 10km catchment area 
was calculated to show the reasonable distance people would cycle for local trips, although 
it is noted that some people will travel further. This has been overlayed on the desire lines 
to show potential cycling trips and therefore areas to consider improvements, as shown in 
Figure 4. Most desire lines between trip generators within Witney fall within the 5km 
catchment, roughly equivalent to a 15-minute cycle.  

 

Page 39



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

26 

 

 

Identifying cycling network improvements 

The improvements to cycling routes and infrastructure in Witney and the surrounding area 
have been designed to achieve the core design outcomes – directness, gradient, safety, 
connectivity and comfort. 

• Directness – compares the length of the cycle route against the shortest motor 
vehicle route length 

• Gradient – identifies the maximum gradient and maximum slope of the cycle route 
with the length at which it is climbed 

• Safety – assesses the vehicle speed and volume and the degree of separation 
between people and general traffic 

• Connectivity – identifies the number of side roads or accesses to the section of route 
which are barrier free and suitable for cycling 

• Comfort – the available space for cycling and the quality of the surface material 

The improvements have been identified through the analysis of the data gathered (see 
Section 2 Background and Appendix A), consultation feedback from ‘Let’s Talk 
Oxfordshire’ and stakeholder engagement. 

Figure 4: 5km and 10km cycling catchments 

Page 40



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

27 

 

A Route Selection Tool (RST) assessment was carried out to assess the suitability of a route 
in its existing condition against the core design outcomes to identify where improvements 
are needed. The RST scored each link between 0 (being the lowest) and 5 (being the 
highest) against the core design outcomes - directness, gradient, safety, connectivity and 
comfort. Attractiveness is not included within the assessment tool as it is not deemed to be 
a deciding factor between routes. 

The improvements identified are high-level proposals, which will require further feasibility 
and design work, along with public consultation before being implemented.  

  

Page 41



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

28 

 

Types of improvements 

Below is a summary of some of the possible cycling improvements that have been 
proposed in and around Witney. 

 

Contraflow cycle lane – a cycle lane which allows people cycling 
to travel in the opposite direction to other traffic. Often used on 
one-way roads to allow people cycling a direct passage along the 
road.10 

 

Cycle parking – a fixed location people can leave their bike. 
There are many different types of cycle parking. The most 
common form of cycle parking is a ‘Sheffield’ stand, which is an 
inverted ‘U’ shape and supports the whole bike. Other types of 
cycle parking include two-tier cycle racks, cycle-hubs and wall 
racks.  

 

Roundabouts with protected space for cycling (also known 
as a Dutch-style roundabout) – as the name suggests, this type 
of roundabout has been inspired by the Dutch, with a priority lane 
for people cycling around the outside of the roundabout and 
controlled crossings on each arm of the junction for people 
walking. Vehicles are expected to give way to people cycling and 
walking crossing at the entry/exit arms of the roundabout. 

 

Toucan crossing – a signal-controlled crossing that allows 
people cycling and walking to cross together. Toucan crossings 
are usually wider than standard pedestrian crossings to 
accommodate people cycling safely.   

 

Tiger crossing (Parallel crossing) – a tiger crossing consists of a 
zebra crossing with a parallel priority space for people cycling to 
cross.  

 

Sparrow crossing – a sparrow crossing is the same as a tiger 
crossing; however, it is at a signal-controlled junction.11  

 

10 Photo credit: TSRGD 2016, Diagram 960.2 

11 Photo credit: https://www.stockport.gov.uk/news/stockports-first-bee-network-scheme-which-will-be-part-
of-greater 

Page 42



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

29 

 

 

Shared use footway/cycleway – shared use paths allow people 
cycling and walking to share the space, although people walking 
have priority. These paths are identified by a blue circle with a 
white symbol of people walking and a bike.12  

 

Segregated shared footway/cycleway – a footway that legally 
allows cycling, with separate spaces for people cycling and 
walking. Segregation is usually light and consists of signage and 
markings. 

 

Segregated cycle track (one or two way) – a cycle facility 
physically segregated from vehicles and people walking.  

 

Wayfinding – signage to support people cycling and walking 
navigate their way around a place. 

Figure 5: Types of improvements 

3.2. Proposed cycling improvements  

The existing cycle network has been used to help identify gaps in current cycle provision. It 
is proposed that these gaps be filled by the improvements outlined in this LCWIP to create 
a coherent, direct, safe, comfortable, and attractive cycle network in Witney and the 
surrounding area.  

The existing and proposed cycle network is shown in Figure 6 and Figure 7.  

The location and type of proposed cycling improvement is shown in Figure 8, Figure 9, 
Figure 10, Figure 11 and Figure 12.  

Detail of the proposed improvements referenced in the above figures is provided in Table 
2.  

 

12 Photo credit: TSRGD 2016, Diagram 956 

Page 43



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

30 

 

  

Figure 6: Full cycling network (existing and proposed) - Witney 

P
age 44



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

31 

 
  

Figure 7: Full cycling network (existing and proposed) – Witney and surrounding areas 

P
age 45



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

32 

 

Figure 8: Proposed cycling improvements - Witney 

P
age 46



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

33 

 

 

Figure 9: Proposed cycling improvements - South 

 

P
age 47



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

34 

 
  

Figure 10: Proposed cycling improvements - East 

 

P
age 48



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

35 

 
  

Figure 11: Proposed cycling improvements - North 

 

P
age 49



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

36 

 
Figure 12: Proposed cycling improvements - West 

P
age 50



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

37 

 

Table 2 below outlines each of the improvements proposed. Those that benefit cycling only 
are shaded blue, and those that benefit both cycling and walking are shaded green. 
Improvements that benefit walking only are shown in Section 3.3. 

Table 2: List of all proposed cycling improvements 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 

1 
Walking & 

Cycling 
A4095 Woodgreen 

A formal pedestrian crossing within the vicinity of 
Holy Trinity Church 

2a Cycling 
Woodstock Road between 
Woodgreen and Wood Green 
School access 

Two-way segregated cycle track on the western 
side of Woodstock Road  

2b Cycling 
Woodstock Road between Wood 
Green School access and Jubilee 
Way 

Two-way segregated cycle track on the western 
side of the Woodstock Road 

3a 
Walking & 

Cycling 
A4095 Witney Road, between 
Jubilee Way and North Leigh 

Two-way segregated cycle track between Jubilee 
Way and Common Road, North Leigh 

3b 
Walking & 

Cycling 

A4095 Witney Road, between 
Common Road and Park Road, 
North Leigh 

Two-way segregated cycle track and adjacent 
footway on the western side of A4095 past North 
Leigh, removing need to go through North Leigh 

3c 
Walking & 

Cycling 

A4095 Witney Road, between 
North Leigh and Hanborough 
Station  

Two-way segregated cycle track between Park 
Road and Hanborough Station 

5 Cycling 
B4022 Hailey Road, between 
West End and Witney Community 
Primary School access 

Two-way segregated cycle track on the western 
side of Hailey Road 

6 Cycling 
B4022 Hailey Road, between 
Witney Community Primary 
School access and Hailey 

Two-way segregated cycle track on the western 
side of Hailey Road 

7 
Walking & 

Cycling 
B4022 West End/Crawley Road 
junction 

Crossing to link Hailey Road and Woodford Mill 
cycle path (for people cycling and walking) 

8 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath link between B4022 
West End and A4095 Mill Street 

Provide lighting and raised path/boardwalk along 
Woodford Mill (as liable to flooding) 

9 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath link between B4022 
West End and A4095 Mill Street 

New bridge/new alignment to remove sharp turn 
and improve visibility 

10a 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath link from B4022 Oxford 
Hill, in vicinity of Madley Brook 

Resurfacing of Public Right of Way (PRoW) 410/4 
running parallel to the Madley Park cycle track to 
allow cycling 

10b 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Footpath link between B4022 
Oxford Hill and Woodbank in 
vicinity of Newland allotments 

Ground lighting along section (circa 75m) of path 
parallel to Newland allotments 

10c 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath link from B4022 Oxford 
Hill, in vicinity of Madley Brook 

Repair and possible widening/re-alignment of 
bridges along the Madley Park/Park View Lane 
track 

10d 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Bridge between Woodbank and 
Northfield Road 

Repair of bridge between Woodbank and 
Northfield Road 

11 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Footpath link across Oxlease 
Park between Cogges Hill Road 
and Church Lane 

Widen existing footpath and extend to Church 
Lane to accommodate people cycling 

12 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Cogges Hill Road, north of Blakes 
Avenue 

New toucan crossing to link people walking and 
cycling to East Witney development and existing 
PRoW 410/7 

Page 51



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

38 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 

13 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Shared use path parallel to 
Stanton Harcourt Road 

Widening of existing shared use footway/cycleway 

14 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Stanton Harcourt Road, between 
shared use path 

New controlled crossing 

15 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Cogges Hill Road, between 
shared use path 

New controlled crossing 

16 
Walking & 

Cycling 
PRoW 410/41, east of Blakes 
Avenue 

Widen existing footpath where possible, re-
surface and add lighting 

17 Cycling 
Witan Way between Station Lane 
and High Street 

Two-way segregated cycle track on the western 
side of Witan Way 

18 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Farm Mill Lane, between Witan 
Way and Station Lane  

Re-surfacing, lighting and widening where 
possible of shared use path  

19 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Link between Stanton Harcourt 
Road and Station Lane/Witan 
Way 

New shared use footway/cycleway linking Stanton 
Harcourt Road across open land to new river 
crossing (21b) 

20 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Link between Cogges Hill Road 
and Station Lane/Witan Way 

New shared use footway/cycleway across open 
land to proposed new river crossing (21b) 

21a 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Links between new river crossing 
and Station Lane/Witan Way and 
Farm Mill Lane 

New shared use footway/cycleway from new river 
crossing (21b) to south side of Sainsbury 
Roundabout and Farm Mill Lane. 

21b 
Walking & 

Cycling 
East of Farm Mill Lane, over the 
River Windrush 

New southern river crossing (for people walking 
and cycling only) 

22 
Walking & 

Cycling 

South of Witan Way roundabout, 
between Station Lane and Two 
Rivers Trading Estate 

New toucan crossing  

23 
Walking & 

Cycling 
B4022 Oxford Hill, east of the 
Windrush Cemetery 

New toucan crossing  

24 
Walking & 

Cycling 

B4022 Oxford Hill, between South 
Leigh and the new toucan 
crossing (23) 

New shared use footway/cycleway on the 
southern side of Oxford Hill 

25 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Stanton Harcourt Road, west of 
Eton Close  

New toucan crossing 

26 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Link between Stanton Harcourt 
Road and PRoW 410/41 (East 
Witney SDA) 

New shared use footway/cycleway  

27 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Link between PRoW 410/41 and 
B4022 Oxford Hill 

Upgrade of PRoW 410/41 to a shared use 
footpath/cycleway from the East Witney site to 
B4022 Oxford Hill 

28 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Witan Way/Farm Mill Lane 

Upgrade existing uncontrolled crossing to a 
controlled crossing such as a raised tiger 
crossing.  

29 Cycling 
B4047 Burford Road/Downs Road 
junction 

Upgrade pedestrian crossing to a toucan crossing 

30 Cycling 
B4047 Burford Road/Deer Park 
Road junction 

Upgrade pedestrian crossing to a toucan crossing 

31 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Deer Park Road, in the vicinity of 
the footpath south of Valence 
Crescent 

New uncontrolled pedestrian crossing  

32 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Deer Park Road, south of Range 
Road linking Deer Park Road and 
the Bridleway 

Controlled toucan or sparrow crossing  

33 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Bridleway between Deer Park 
Road and Downs Road 

Widen, provide lighting and re-surface existing 
bridleway 

Page 52



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

39 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 

34 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath between Downs Road 
and Book End 

Maintenance of vegetation, lighting required 

35 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath between Book End and 
Range Road 

Widen existing path 

36 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Link between Colletts Way and 
Leslie Harvey Close 

New link between employment park and housing 
estate 

37 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Link between Downs Road and 
Chipmunk Drive/College Place 

New link between Downs Road and housing 
estate 

38 Cycling 
Curbridge Road between Spring 
Meadow and Deer Park Road 

Reduce length of right-turn pocket and extend 
shared-use section to the roundabout 

39 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Curbridge Road/Deer Park Road 

Roundabout with protected space for cycling (also 
known as a Dutch-style roundabout) 

40 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Curbridge Road/Ducklington 
Lane/Welch Way 

Roundabout with protected space for cycling (also 
known as a Dutch-style roundabout) 

41 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath linking Hyde Meadow 
View and Woodford Mill path 

Upgrade existing footpath by raising up, re-
surfacing and adding lighting. Re-alignment and 
modifications to bridge also required. 

42 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Curbridge Road in the vicinity of 
the Tower Hill Cemetery 

New controlled crossing  

43 Cycling 
Curbridge Road, between Deer 
Park Road and Tower Hill 

Two-way segregated cycle track on the northern 
side of Curbridge Road (likely to be shared in 
places near Fiveways Roundabout) 

44 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Shared use path east of 
Fettiplace Road 

Remove barriers or widen to safely allow for 
inclusive access 

45 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Footpath between Edington Road 
and Apley Way (south of West 
Witney Primary School) 

Re-surface path  

46 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Tower Hill in the vicinity of 
Windrush Valley Road 

New controlled crossing  

47 
Walking & 

Cycling 
A415 Ducklington Lane in vicinity 
of Burwell Drive 

At-grade controlled crossing  

48 
Walking & 

Cycling 
A415 Ducklington Lane 

Shared use footpath/cycleway parallel to road as 
bypass to underpass and remove the need for 
users to traverse the gradients 

49 
Walking & 

Cycling 
A415 Ducklington Lane 

New links between Ducklington Lane and Queen 
Emma's Dyke 

51 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath next to Lakeside 
Allotments 

Remove barriers (kissing gates) or widen to safely 
allow for inclusive access 

53 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Shared use path parallel to B4047 
Burford Road 

Resurfacing of off-road path to provide smooth 
surface. Lighting also required  

56 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Woodgreen (Narrow Hill) 

Restrict motorised traffic to access only, in 
southbound direction and add signage to allow 
contra-flow cycling 

57 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Path in the vicinity of Farmers 
Close  

Widen where possible and re-align barriers 

59 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath link between Eastfield 
Road and Vanner Road 

Widen cut through where possible 

60 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Ashcombe Close link 

Widen gap in the wall and re-align 
footway/cycleway 

63 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Witan Way, north of Two Rivers 
Industrial Estate 

Upgrade of uncontrolled crossing to a controlled 
crossing, linking to employment and Job Centre 

64 Cycling Welch Way  
Realign hedgerow to accommodate space for a 
two-way segregated cycle track 

Page 53



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

40 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 

65 
Walking & 

Cycling 
B4022 Newland, in vicinity of 
PROW 410/4 entrance 

New parallel crossing on B4022 Newland 

66 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Link between Newland Mill and 
Church Lane 

Re-surface path and widen footway to allow 
shared space 

68 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Woodstock Road, north of 
Blenheim Heights 

Realign barriers and add signage to warn of 
conflict. Barriers currently filter people cycling 
towards blind entrance with residential drive 

71 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Path linking Cogges Hill Church 
and Church Lane 

Remove barriers 

73 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Footpath between Fettiplace 
Road and Tower Hill 

Add lighting 

77 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Path link at Spring Road Add lighting 

78 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Path parallel to Gordon Way Widen where possible 

79 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Downs Road/Centenary Way 
roundabout 

New toucan crossing across the southern arm of 
Downs Road to connect the two cycle routes (ref 
83 and 90) 

81 
Walking & 

Cycling 
B4022 Oxford Hill/Jubilee Way Upgrade junction to MOVA and review staging 

83 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Path connecting Downs Road and 
Centenary Way parallel to the 
A40 

Upgrade path to accommodate a two-way 
segregated cycle track  

85 
Walking & 

Cycling A4095 Burford Road 
Upgrade of existing segregated shared 
footway/cycleway to a two-way segregated cycle 
track 

86 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Oxford Hill, between Cogges Hill 
Road and east of Windrush 
Cemetery 

New shared use footway/cycleway on the 
southern side of Oxford Hill  

87 
Walking & 

Cycling 
King George's Field, north of 
Newland 

Shared use footway/cycleway around King 
George's Field 

88 
Walking & 

Cycling 

New road linking Hailey Road and 
Woodstock Road (part of North 
Witney SDA) 

New northern distributor road. Proposed one-way 
cycle track on both sides of the carriageway, to be 
a min of 1.8m width ‘stepped’ cycle track (2m is 
preferable to enable overtaking). A 2m wide 
footway each side is also proposed. 

89 
Walking & 

Cycling 

Link between West End/Hailey 
Road junction and Burford 
Road/Woodford Way junction 

West End Link 2 to include segregated walking 
and cycling routes 

90 Cycling 
Witney Road, between Carterton 
and Witney 

Two-way segregated cycle track (some land take 
may be required) 

91 Cycling B4449 Aston Road 
Two-way segregated cycle track between 
Bampton and Aston  

92 Cycling Aston Mile 
Two-way segregated cycle track between 
Bampton and Ducklington  

93 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Ducklington Lane 

Upgrade of existing segregated shared 
footway/cycleway along Ducklington Lane to two-
way segregated cycle track 

94 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Thorney Leys 

Two-way segregated cycle track along Thorney 
Leys including extension of existing footway 

95 Cycling Corn Street Two-way segregated cycle track on Corn Street 

96 Cycling A415/Aston Mile 
Crossing on A415 between Aston & Ducklington 
to link proposed routes 

Page 54



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

41 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 

99 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Ducklington Lane Roundabout, 
adjacent to A40 western slips 

Introduce sparrow crossings at the roundabout. 
Crossings required on Ducklington Lane, A415 
and A40 slip roads (as a minimum). These could 
be standalone or as part of a junction 
signalisation. 

100 
Walking & 

Cycling 
High Street and Market Square 
from Welch Way to Church Green 

Active travel tranche 3 scheme - improve the 
public realm to make the High Street a more 
accessible, pleasant environment for people to 
walk, cycle and spend time. 

101 
Walking & 

Cycling 
Bridge Street 

Feasibility study under way 2022 with the aims to 
widened footways, provide improve crossings and 
cycle infrastructure. 

 

A concept level design has been produced for improvement 40 at Fiveways roundabout, to 
show an example of a roundabout with protected space for cycling (also known as a Dutch-
style roundabout), see Figure 13. A concept level design has also been produced for 
improvement 2a/2b at Woodstock Road, to show an example of a two-way segregated cycle 
route and parallel crossing, see Figure 14. These designs are available at higher resolution 
and full key in Appendix C. 

Page 55



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

42 

 

Figure 13: Roundabout with protected space for cycling at Fiveways Roundabout 

This drawing includes map data licenced from Ordnance 
Survey with the permission of the controller of Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown copyright licence 
number 0100023343 (2022)  

P
age 56



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

43 

 

Figure 14: Woodstock Road segregated cycle track 

 

This drawing includes map data licenced from 
Ordnance Survey with the permission of the controller of 
Her Majesty’s Stationery Office. © Crown copyright 
licence number 0100023343 (2022)  

P
age 57



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

44 

 

3.3. Complementary measures 

Complementary measures are considered vital to any infrastructure that prioritises and 
separates people cycling from other road users and will support the delivery of this LCWIP. 
Measures include:  

• Signage and wayfinding – the delivery of strategic, comprehensive and consistent 
signage and wayfinding is important to support people cycling navigate their way 
around Witney. A study is required to identify how this can be achieved in Witney. 
 

• Cycle parking – should be secure and conveniently located for where people want 
to travel. This could include cycle hubs at public transport interchanges or ‘Sheffield’ 
cycle stands outside key trip generators. Cycle parking should accommodate all types 
of bikes, including adapted bikes and cargo bikes.  An audit of cycle parking in Witney 
will be carried out. This will assess the location and condition of current cycle parking 
and consider where upgrades and additional cycle parking is required. This will be a 
supporting document to this LCWIP.   
 

• High Street and Market Square – there are aspirations to improve the public realm 
to make the High Street a more accessible and pleasant environment for people to 
walk, cycle and spend time in. This will complement the measures to reduce through 
traffic on High Street and Market Square delivered in 2020/21 as part of the Active 
Travel Fund. This is shown as reference 100 on the proposed cycling improvements 
figures. 

 

• Bridge Street – specific measures have not been included within this LCWIP for 
Bridge Street. This is because a separate study is underway to identify what 
measures can be implemented at Bridge Street to improve traffic circulation, reduce 
congestion, and prioritise public transport and active travel. The outcome of this study 
will likely propose measures including widened footways, crossings and cycle 
infrastructure along Bridge Street and the nearby area. This is shown as reference 
101 on the improvement plans. 

 

• In some locations across Witney guard-railing, bollards, or barriers, which were 
originally installed for safety reasons, are preventing access for people on all bike 
types and other wheeled mobility aids including mobility scooters and double 
pushchairs. The Windrush Bike Project have conducted a thorough audit of such 
barriers across Witney and OCC are seeking to remove or alter these to enable 
access for all.  
 

 

Page 58



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

45 

 

4. Network Map for Walking 

This chapter sets out the walking improvements proposed as part of this LCWIP. The 
development of the walking network has been an iterative process and has combined using 
the Walking Route Audit Tool (WRAT), alongside local input from the public, key 
stakeholders, officers and councillors from OCC and WODC. The Audit Output Report can 
be found in Appendix B.  

4.1. Methodology 

The same trip generators used to develop the cycle network have been used for the walking 
network.  

On average people tend to walk up to 2km for a local trip, although it is noted that some 
people will walk further. Figure 15 shows a 2km walking catchment, assuming Welch 
Way/High Street as the centre point. It shows that from High Street, most of north, central 
and east Witney are accessible within 2km or roughly a 30-minute walk.   

 

Figure 15: 2km walking catchment 

Page 59



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

46 

 

Identifying a hierarchy of walking routes 

The walking hierarchy map illustrated in Figure 16 shows the different roles that each road 
has for walking. There are four main categories which are: 

• Prestige/Primary Walking Routes – very busy areas of town and main walking 
routes through the town centre with high footfall 

• Secondary Walking Routes – medium usage routes through local areas feeding 
into primary routes and places such as local shopping centres 

• Link Footways – links to connect access footways through urban areas and busy 
rural footways 

• Local Access Footways – footways associated with low usage, short estate roads 
to the main roads and cul-de-sacs 

  

Page 60



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

47 

 

 

Figure 16: Walking network map with route hierarchy 

P
age 61



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

48 

 

Identifying walking network improvements 

The improvements to footways and other walking infrastructure in Witney are designed to 
be attractive, comfortable, direct, safe and coherent. They have been identified through the 
analysis of the data gathered (Section 2 and Appendix A), consultation feedback from 
‘Let’s Talk Oxfordshire’ and stakeholder engagement. 

A Walking Route Audit Tool (WRAT) assessment has been carried out to assess the five 
core design outcomes. The assessment also considers the needs of people with disabilities, 
mobility aid users, older people and people with young children/pushchairs.  

The improvements identified are high-level proposals, which will require further feasibility 
and design work, along with public consultation before being implemented.  

Types of improvements 

Below is a summary of some of the possible improvements to the walking experience in 
Witney that have been proposed. 

 

Dropped kerbs – features to facilitate non-stepped access to 
allow wheelchair/mobility aid users and people with pushchairs to 
cross the road unimpeded.  

 

Tactile paving – paving that warns visually impaired people about 
where the footway ends and the carriageway begins. There are 
different types of tactile paving.  

 

Refuge island – a small area of footway in the centre of the road 
to allow people walking to cross in two stages. Refuge islands are 
usually found on roads with higher speeds and greater numbers 
of vehicles, where crossing in a single movement is more difficult. 

 

Controlled pedestrian crossing – there are three types of 
controlled pedestrian crossings: Zebra, Pelican and Puffin.  
 
Zebra – these crossings are marked out by black and white stripes 
across the road with flashing beacons and zig zag markings.  
 
Pelican – these are signalised crossings and require people 
walking to press a button and wait for the green man to appear 
before crossing the road. 
 
Puffin – these are signalised crossings similar to Pelican 
crossings in that they require people walking to press a button. 
However, they are more advanced than Pelican crossings as they 

Page 62



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

49 

 

can detect people walking in the waiting area and whilst they are 
crossing the road.  

 

Uncontrolled pedestrian crossing – unlike controlled crossings, 
people walking must wait for traffic to stop or for a suitable gap to 
cross the road. These crossings may include dropped kerbs, 
tactile paving and a refuge island. 

 

Raised table – a form of traffic calming that aims to slow the 
speed of vehicles and to emphasise features such as crossing 
points. They are sometimes used at the entry of a side road to 
provide a level surface for people walking to cross the road without 
the need for dropped kerbs.    

 

Footway buildout - widenings of footways that run beside a 
carriageway and provide greater space for people walking to wait, 
reduce crossing distances, and improve the visibility of people 
walking and other road users.   

Figure 17: Types of walking improvements 

4.2. Proposed walking improvements 

The walking improvements are shown in Figure 18. The subsequent two maps in Figure 19 
and Figure 20 show a scaled up version of Figure 18. The reference numbers shown on 
the map refer to the improvements described in Table 3.   

 

Page 63



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

50 

 

Figure 18: Proposed walking improvements - Witney 

 

P
age 64



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

51 

 

 

Figure 19: Proposed walking improvements – West Witney 

P
age 65



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

52 

 

 

Figure 20: Proposed walking improvements – East Witney 

P
age 66



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

53 

 

Table 3 below outlines a description of each of the improvements proposed. Those that 
benefit walking only are shaded purple, and those that benefit both walking and cycling are 
shaded green. Improvements that benefit cycling only are shown in Section 3. 

Table 3: List of all proposed walking improvements 

Ref no. 
Benefit 

to 
Location  Description 

1 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Woodgreen 
A formal pedestrian crossing within the vicinity of 
Holy Trinity Church 

3a 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Witney Road, between 
Jubilee Way and North Leigh 

Two-way segregated cycle track between Jubilee 
Way and Common Road, North Leigh 

3b 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Witney Road, between 
Common Road and Park 
Road, North Leigh 

Two-way segregated cycle track and adjacent 
footway on the western side of A4095 past North 
Leigh, removing need to go through North Leigh 

3c 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Witney Road, between 
North Leigh and Hanborough 
Station  

Two-way segregated cycle track between Park 
Road and Hanborough Station 

4 Walking 
Station Lane, in vicinity of 
Avenue One and Gordon 
Lane 

Provision of controlled crossing 

7 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 West End/Crawley 
Road junction 

Crossing to link Hailey Road and Woodford Mill 
cycle path (for people cycling and walking) 

8 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link between B4022 
West End and A4095 Mill 
Street 

Provide lighting and raised path/boardwalk along 
Woodford Mill (as liable to flooding) 

9 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link between B4022 
West End and A4095 Mill 
Street 

New bridge/new alignment to remove sharp turn 
and improve visibility 

10a 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link from B4022 
Oxford Hill, in vicinity of 
Madley Brook 

Resurfacing of PRoW 410/4 running parallel to the 
Madley Park cycle track to allow cycling 

10b 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link between B4022 
Oxford Hill and Woodbank in 
vicinity of Newland allotments 

Ground lighting along section (circa 75m) of path 
parallel to Newland allotments 

10c 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link from B4022 
Oxford Hill, in vicinity of 
Madley Brook 

Repair and possible widening/re-alignment of 
bridges along the Madley Park/Park View Lane 
track 

10d 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Bridge between Woodbank 
and Northfield Road 

Repair of bridge between Woodbank and Northfield 
Road 

11 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link across Oxlease 
Park between Cogges Hill 
Road and Church Lane 

Widen existing footpath and extend to and Church 
Lane to accommodate people cycling 

12 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Cogges Hill Road, north of 
Blakes Avenue 

New toucan crossing to link people walking and 
cycling to East Witney development and existing 
PRoW 410/7 

13 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Shared use path parallel to 
Stanton Harcourt Road 

Widening of existing shared use footway/cycleway 

Page 67



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

54 

 

Ref no. 
Benefit 

to 
Location  Description 

14 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Stanton Harcourt Road, 
between shared use path 

New controlled crossing 

15 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Cogges Hill Road, between 
shared use path 

New controlled crossing 

16 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

PRoW 410/41, east of Blakes 
Avenue 

Widen existing footpath where possible, re-surface 
and add lighting 

18 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Farm Mill Lane, between 
Witan Way and Station Lane  

Re-surfacing, lighting and widening where possible 
of shared use path  

19 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between Stanton 
Harcourt Road and Station 
Lane/Witan Way 

New shared use footway/cycleway linking Stanton 
Harcourt Road across open land to new river 
crossing (21b) 

20 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between Cogges Hill 
Road and Station Lane/Witan 
Way 

New shared use footway/cycleway across open 
land to proposed new river crossing (21b) 

21a 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Links between new river 
crossing and Station 
Lane/Witan Way and Farm 
Mill Lane 

New shared use footway/cycleway from new river 
crossing (21b) to south side of Sainsbury 
Roundabout and Farm Mill Lane. 

21b 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

East of Farm Mill Lane, over 
the River Windrush 

New southern river crossing (for people walking 
and cycling only) 

22 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

South of Witan Way 
roundabout, between Station 
Lane and Two Rivers Trading 
Estate 

New toucan crossing  

23 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 Oxford Hill, east of the 
Windrush Cemetery 

New toucan crossing  

24 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 Oxford Hill, between 
South Leigh and the new 
toucan crossing (23) 

New shared use footway/cycleway on the southern 
side of Oxford Hill 

25 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Stanton Harcourt Road, west 
of Eton Close  

New toucan crossing 

26 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between Stanton 
Harcourt Road and PRoW 
410/41 (East Witney SDA) 

New shared use footway/cycleway  

27 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between PRoW 410/41 
and B4022 Oxford Hill 

Upgrade of PRoW 410/41 to a shared use 
footpath/cycleway from the East Witney site to 
B4022 Oxford Hill 

28 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Witan Way/Farm Mill Lane 
Upgrade existing uncontrolled crossing to a 
controlled crossing such as a raised tiger crossing. 

31 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Deer Park Road, in the 
vicinity of the footpath south 
of Valence Crescent 

New uncontrolled pedestrian crossing  

32 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Deer Park Road, south of 
Range Road linking Deer 
Park Road and the Bridleway 

Controlled toucan or sparrow crossing  

Page 68



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

55 

 

Ref no. 
Benefit 

to 
Location  Description 

33 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Bridleway between Deer Park 
Road and Downs Road 

Widen, provide lighting and re-surface existing 
bridleway 

34 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between Downs 
Road and Book End 

Maintenance of vegetation, lighting required 

35 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between Book End 
and Range Road 

Widen existing path 

36 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between Colletts Way 
and Leslie Harvey Close 

New link between employment park and housing 
estate 

37 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between Downs Road 
and Chipmunk Drive/College 
Place 

New link between Downs Road and housing estate 

39 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Curbridge Road/Deer Park 
Road 

Roundabout with protected space for cycling (also 
known as a Dutch-style roundabout) 

40 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Curbridge Road/Ducklington 
Lane/Welch Way 

Roundabout with protected space for cycling (also 
known as a Dutch-style roundabout) 

41 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath linking Hyde 
Meadow View and Woodford 
Mill path (8) 

Upgrade existing footpath by raising up, re-
surfacing and adding lighting. Re-alignment and 
modifications to bridge also required. 

42 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Curbridge Road in the vicinity 
of the Tower Hill Cemetery 

New controlled crossing  

44 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Shared use path east of 
Fettiplace Road 

Remove barriers or widen to safely allow for 
inclusive access 

45 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between Edington 
Road and Apley Way (south 
of West Witney Primary 
School) 

Re-surface path  

46 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Tower Hill in the vicinity of 
Windrush Valley Road 

New controlled crossing  

47 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A415 Ducklington Lane in 
vicinity of Burwell Drive 

At-grade controlled crossing  

48 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A415 Ducklington Lane 
Shared use footpath/cycleway parallel to road as 
bypass to underpass and remove the need for 
users to traverse the gradients 

49 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A415 Ducklington Lane 
New links between Ducklington Lane and Queen 
Emma's Dyke 

50 Walking 
Footpath next to Lakeside 
Allotments 

Widen path where possible 

51 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath next to Lakeside 
Allotments 

Remove barriers (kissing gates) or widen to safely 
allow for inclusive access 

52 Walking 
Witney Road, in the vicinity of 
Dale Walk, Ducklington 

Uncontrolled crossing required, narrowing of 
carriageway and widening of footway 

Page 69



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

56 

 

Ref no. 
Benefit 

to 
Location  Description 

53 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Shared use path parallel to 
B4047 Burford Road 

Resurfacing of off-road path to provide smooth 
surface. Lighting also required  

54 Walking 
Cogges Hill Road, north of 
Blakes Avenue 

Formalisation of western path by re-surfacing 

55 Walking 
Cogges Hill Road/Cogges Hill 
Road 

Uncontrolled crossing required 

56 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Woodgreen (Narrow Hill) 
Restrict motorised traffic to access only, in 
southbound direction and add signage to allow 
contra-flow cycling 

57 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Path in the vicinity of Farmers 
Close  

Widen where possible and re-align barriers 

58 Walking 
B4022 Hailey Road between 
Farmers Close and Taphouse 
Avenue 

New uncontrolled crossing closer to the junction 

59 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link between 
Eastfield Road and Vanner 
Road 

Widen cut through where possible 

60 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Ashcombe Close link 
Widen gap in the wall and re-align 
footway/cycleway 

61 Walking  
Footway between Moorland 
Road and Woodford Way 

Widen where possible, add lighting 

62 Walking 
Market Square, crossing on 
Langdale Gate/Corn Street 
roundabout's southern arm 

Pedestrian crossing movements on south of 
Langdale Gate are unclear and can be confused 
with motorcycle parking.  Enhance walking areas to 
make crossing movements clearer 

63 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Witan Way, north of Two 
Rivers Industrial Estate 

Upgrade of uncontrolled crossing to a controlled 
crossing, linking to employment and Job Centre 

65 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 Newland, in vicinity of 
PROW 410/4 entrance 

New parallel crossing on B4022 Newland 

66 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between Newland Mill 
and Church Lane 

Re-surface path and widen footway to allow shared 
space 

68 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Woodstock Road, north of 
Blenheim Heights 

Barriers filter people cycling towards blind entrance 
with residential drive. Realign barriers and add 
signage to warn of conflict 

69 Walking 
A4095 Burford Road in 
vicinity of Moor Avenue 

Build-out within layby to make crossing movements 
safer and easier 

70 Walking 
A4095 Burford Road, east of 
Springfield Park 

Widen footway into adjacent verge 

71 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Path linking Cogges Hill 
Church and Church Lane 

Remove barriers 

72 Walking 
Tower Hill between Windrush 
Valley Road and Wilkinson 
Place 

Convert verge on western side of Tower Hill to 
footway, providing continuous footway connection 

73 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between Fettiplace 
Road and Tower Hill 

Add lighting 

Page 70



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

57 

 

Ref no. 
Benefit 

to 
Location  Description 

74 Walking 
Moorland Road/Moor Ave 
junction 

Move uncontrolled junction further into Moorland 
Road crossing to provide safer crossing 

75 Walking Woodford Way/Welch Road  
Review signal timings as long wait time for people 
crossing Woodford Way at signal-controlled 
junction 

76 Walking 
Market Square western 
footway, south of 
Marlborough Lane 

Review bollard locations and potential to extend 
build-out to remove pinch point 

77 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link at Spring Road Add lighting 

78 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath parallel to Gordon 
Way 

Widen where possible 

79 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Downs Road/Centenary Way 
roundabout 

New toucan crossing across the southern arm of 
Downs Road to connect the two cycle routes (ref 83 
and 90) 

80 Walking 
Witan Way, north of Waine 
Rush View 

New controlled pedestrian crossing north of Waine 
Rush View 

81 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 Oxford Hill/Jubilee 
Way 

Upgrade junction to MOVA and review staging 

82 Walking  
West End, east of Hailey 
Road/West End roundabout 

Add chicane on outbound carriageway to allow for 
footway widening at the pinch point 

83 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Path connecting Downs Road 
and Centenary Way parallel 
to the A40 

Upgrade path to accommodate a two-way 
segregated cycle track 

85 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Burford Road 
Upgrade of existing segregated shared 
footway/cycleway to a two-way segregated cycle 
track 

86 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Oxford Hill, between Cogges 
Hill Road and east of 
Windrush Cemetery 

New shared use footway/cycleway on the southern 
side of Oxford Hill  

87 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

King George's Field, north of 
Newland 

Shared use footway/cycleway around King 
George's Field 

88 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

New road linking Hailey Road 
and Woodstock Road (part of 
North Witney SDA) 

New northern distributor road. Proposed one-way 
cycle track on both sides of the carriageway, to be 
a min of 1.8m width ‘stepped’ cycle track (2m is 
preferable to enable overtaking). A 2m wide 
footway each side is also proposed. 

89 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between West 
End/Hailey Road junction and 
Burford Road/Woodford Way 
junction 

West End Link 2 to include segregated walking and 
cycling routes 

93 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Ducklington Lane 
Upgrade of existing segregated shared 
footway/cycleway along Ducklington Lane to two-
way segregated cycle track 

94 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Thorney Leys 
Two-way segregated cycle track along Thorney 
Leys including extension of existing footway 

97 Walking 
Cogges Hill Road/B4022 
Oxford Hill 

New footpath to the south of Oxford Hill between 
Oxford Hill/Jubilee Way to Windrush Cemetery 

Page 71



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

58 

 

Ref no. 
Benefit 

to 
Location  Description 

98 Walking 
A4095 Burford Road, in the 
vicinity of Windrush Valley 
Road 

New pedestrian crossing to help access bus stops 
east of Windrush Valley Road 

99 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Ducklington Lane 
Roundabout, adjacent to A40 
western slips 

Introduce sparrow crossings at the roundabout. 
Crossings required on Ducklington Lane, A415 and 
A40 slip roads (as a minimum). These could be 
standalone or as part of a junction signalisation. 

100 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

High Street and Market 
Square from Welch Way to 
Church Green 

Active travel tranche 3 scheme - improve the public 
realm to make the High Street a more accessible, 
pleasant environment for people to walk, cycle and 
spend time. 

101 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Bridge Street 
Feasibility study under way 2022 with the aims to 
widened footways, provide improve crossings and 
cycle infrastructure. 

4.3. Complementary measures 

Complementary infrastructure is considered vital to any infrastructure that prioritises and 
separates people cycling from other road users and will support the delivery of this LCWIP. 
This includes:  

• Signage and wayfinding – the delivery of strategic, comprehensive and consistent 
signage and wayfinding is important to support people walking navigate their way 
around Witney. A study is required to identify how this can be achieved in Witney.  
 

• High Street and Market Square – there are aspirations to improve the public realm 
to make the High Street a more accessible and pleasant environment for people to 
walk, cycle and spend time in. This will complement the measures to reduce through 
traffic on High Street and Market Square delivered in 2020/21 as part of the Active 
Travel Fund. This is shown as reference 100 on the proposed cycling improvements 
figures. 

 

• Bridge Street – specific measures have not been included within this LCWIP for 
Bridge Street. This is because a separate study is underway to identify what 
measures can be implemented at Bridge Street to improve traffic circulation, reduce 
congestion, and prioritise public transport and active travel. The outcome of this study 
will likely propose measures including widened footways, crossings and cycle 
infrastructure along Bridge Street and the nearby area. This is shown as reference 
101 on the improvement plans. 

 

• In some locations across Witney guard-railing, bollards, or barriers, which were 
originally installed for safety reasons, are preventing access for people on all bike 
types and other wheeled mobility aids including mobility scooters and double 
pushchairs. The Windrush Bike Project have conducted a thorough audit of such 
barriers across Witney and OCC are seeking to remove or alter these to enable 
access for all.  

 

Page 72



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

59 

 

5. Prioritisation of improvements and Packaging of 

improvements  

This section outlines how the proposed improvements in Sections 3 and 3.3 have been 
prioritised, given a ranked score and delivery timescale, and grouped into one of eleven 
packages.  

5.1. Prioritisation of improvements 

A table has been produced (Table 5) which shows a prioritisation score/rank for each 
measure and a delivery timescale. The process for determining the prioritisation 
score/rank is separate to how the delivery timescale has been determined. That is to 
say, the delivery timescale has not influenced the prioritisation score/rank.  

To establish the prioritisation score/rank order of the improvements proposed in 
sections 3 and 3.3, they have been assessed against the following criteria: 

• Effectiveness: How effective is the measure? 

o Potential increase in cycling trips 

o Population who directly benefit from the improvement 

o Improvement in road safety 

 

• Policy: Is the measure policy compliant? 

o Supports connectivity to Strategic Development Areas (SDA) 

o Complementary to active travel users 

o Complementary to public transport 

 

• Deliverability: How deliverable is the measure? 

o Indicative cost 

o Funding potential 

o Physical constraints  

o Stakeholder acceptability 

 

• Environmental: What are the environmental impacts of the measure? 

o Impact on air quality 

o Impact on natural and historic environment 

 

• RST/WRAT Scoring: 

o Walking Route Assessment Tool 

o Route Selection Tool scoring 

 

Page 73



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

60 

 

Each measure has been scored against the criteria above on a scale of 0-2, with a total 
score of 28 available. Table 4 outlines the scoring requirements of each criterion. 

Table 4: Prioritisation criteria 

Effectiveness Source 0 1 2 

Potential increase 
in cycling trips 
(people cycling per 
day) 

Propensity to Cycle Tool 
– increase in people 
cycling for commutes and 
school travel  

Less than 50 50-100 More than 100 

Population who 
directly benefit 
from the 
improvement 

2020 Lower Super Output 
Area (LSOA) mid-year 
population within 400m of 
proposed measure13 

Less than 999 1000-1999 More than 2000 

Improvement in 
road safety 

Number of people 
walking, or cycling killed 
or seriously injured (KSI) 
in the same location as 
the proposed measure 
between 2017-2021 

No people 
walking or 

cycling KSI's 
along route 

People walking 
or cycling KSI's 
along route = 1 

People walking 
or cycling KSI's 

along route 
more than 2 

Policy  0 1 2 

Supports 
connectivity to 
Strategic 
Development 
Areas (SDA) 

Link to SDA 
Does not 

connect to a 
SDA 

Indirectly 
benefits/connects 

to SDA 

Provides direct 
link to SDA/lies 

within SDA 

Complementary to 
other Active Travel 
Users 

Benefits to people 
walking and cycling 

Negative impact 
to other active 
travel users 

No impact to 
other active 
travel users 

Strongly 
complements 
other active 
travel users 

Complementary to 
Public Transport 

Impact on buses, trains 
and other public transport 

Negative impact 
to public 
transport 

No impact to 
public transport 

Strongly 
complements 

public transport 
e.g. improves 
connections to 

bus 
stops/railway 

stations 

Deliverability  0 1 2 

Indicative cost 

A combination of 
indicative costs outlined 
in: 

• Figure 10 of the 
LCWIP guidance 

• Cycling measures, 
DfT 2017 

• Spons Civil 
Engineering & 
Highway Works Price 
Book 2022 

All costs were then 
amended to a 2021 cost 
inclusive of inflation  

High cost (More 
than £1.5m) 

Medium cost 
(£0.75m-£1.5m) 

Low cost (Less 
than £0.75m) 

 

13 No adjustments were made to population estimates to account for potential new developments in North and East Witney.  

Page 74



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

61 

 

Effectiveness Source 0 1 2 

Funding potential 

Whether the measure 
aligns to DfT’s Gear 
Change, including LTN 
1/20 Cycle Infrastructure 
Design compliance, and 
the likelihood of 
encouraging behavioural 
change. 

Funding very 
unlikely e.g.  

Medium 
likelihood of 

funding 

High likelihood 
of funding 

Physical 
constraints (land 
ownership, 
buildings) 

Whether the measure can 
be delivered within the 
Highway Boundary 

Significant 
constraints 

(bridges, land 
take etc) 

Some minor 
constraints (likely 

to be able to 
overcome) 

No physical 
constraints (no 
bridges, land 

take etc) 

Stakeholder 
acceptability 

Prioritisation exercise 
carried out with the 
Steering Group. 

Not supported 
by stakeholders 

Limited support 
by stakeholders 

Strongly 
supported by 
stakeholders 

Environmental  0 1 2 

Impact on air 
quality 

Whether the measure will 
have an impact on air 
quality/the environment 
and its proximity to Air 
Quality Management 
Areas 

Negative impact 
on air quality 

No impact to air 
quality 

Positive impact 
on air 

quality/falls 
within AQMA 

Impact on natural 
and historical 
environment 

Impact on green space 
and historic environments  

Loss of green 
space or 

vegetation (over 
and above 

highway verge) 
Street lighting 
impact to off-
road paths 

No impact on 
natural or historic 

environment 

Positive impact 
on natural or 

historic 
environment  

RST/WRAT 
Scoring 

 
0 1 2 

RST Scoring 
Score of the Route 
Selection Tool 
Assessment   

Less than 9 9 to 18 More than 18 

WRAT Scoring 
Score of the Walking 
Route Audit Tool  

More than 70% 35 to 70% Less than 35%  

Page 75



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

62 

 

A delivery timescale has also been determined for each measure as shown in Table 5. 

The delivery timescales are: 

• Short term (typically less than 3 years) – improvements which can be implemented 
quickly or are under development  

• Medium term (typically less than 5 years) – improvements where there is a clear 
intention to act, but delivery is dependent on further funding availability or other issues 

• Long term (typically more than 5 years) – more aspirational improvements or those 
awaiting a defined solution 

Three factors have influenced the delivery timescale assessment. Firstly, the prioritisation 
score/rank. Low scoring/ranking improvements were prioritised for long term delivery while 
improvements that scored highly, which offer greater benefits, were prioritised for short term 
delivery. Secondly, consideration of whether a high scoring/ranking measure can practicably 
be delivered in the short term given the level of complexity of the scheme. Estimated 
construction cost has been used as proxy for complexity. Figure 21 outlines this process, 
where more costly improvements have been categorised to be delivered in the medium or 
long term. 

 

 

Figure 21: Cost adjusted delivery timescales 

 

Thirdly, where improvements were categorised for short- or medium-term delivery based on 
the scoring but are reliant upon a Local Plan Strategic Development Area (SDA) for delivery 
for the benefits to be realised, they automatically became a long-term priority. At the time of 
writing, the East Witney or North Witney SDA do not have consented planning permission 

Short term 
improvement 

Estimated 
cost less 

than £0.75m 

Yes 

Yes 

No 

No 

Estimated 
cost 

between 
£0.75m and 

£1.5m 

Change to long 
term  

Change to 
medium term  

Remains short 
term  

Page 76



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

63 

 

and are therefore unlikely to be delivering improvements on the ground in less than 5 years’ 
time.  

The prioritisation scoring/ranking will remain under review and may change if new funding 
or other opportunities become available to deliver the improvements sooner than planned. 

Figure 22 shows a map of the improvements by the short-, medium- and long-term delivery 
timescales. Wider cycle connections are shown in the larger scale plan in Figure 23.  

Table 5: Prioritised improvements in ranked order 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 

7 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 West 
End/Crawley Road 
junction 

Crossing to link 
Hailey Road and 
Woodford Mill cycle 
path (for cyclists and 
pedestrians) 

18 1 Short 

2a Cycling 

Woodstock Road, 
between 
Woodgreen and 
Wood Green 
School access 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track on the 
western side of the 
Woodstock Road  

16 =2 Short 

65 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 Newland, in 
vicinity of PROW 
410/4 entrance 
and Church Lane 

New parallel crossing 
on B4022 Newland 

16 =2 Short 

93 Cycling Ducklington Lane 

Upgrade of existing 
segregated shared 
use footway/cycleway 
along Ducklington 
Lane to footway with 
segregated two-way 
cycle track 

16 =2 Medium 

8 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Woodford Mill 
footpath between 
B4022 West End 
and A4095 Mill 
Street 

Provide lighting and 
raised 
path/boardwalk along 
Woodford Mill (as 
liable to flooding) 

15 =5 Short 

9 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link 
between B4022 
West End and 
A4095 Mill Street 

90 degree 
overbridge. New 
bridge/alignment to 
remove sharp turn 
and improve visibility 

15 =5 Short 

32 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Deer Park Road, 
south of Range 
Road linking Deer 
Park Road and the 
Bridleway 

Controlled toucan or 
sparrow crossing  

15 =5 Short 

40 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Curbridge 
Road/Ducklington 
Lane/Welch Way 

Roundabout with 
protected space for 
cycling (also known 
as a Dutch-style 
roundabout) 

15 =5 Long 

Page 77



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

64 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 

44 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Shared use path 
east of Fettiplace 
Road 

Remove barriers or 
widen to safely allow 
for inclusive access 

15 =5 Short 

45 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between 
Edington Road 
and Apley Way 
(south of West 
Witney Primary 
School) 

Re-surface path and 
lower manholes to 
footpath surface level 

15 =5 Short 

47 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A415 Ducklington 
Lane in vicinity of 
Burwell Drive 

At-grade controlled 
crossing  

15 =5 Short 

48 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A415 Ducklington 
Lane 

Shared use 
footpath/cycleway 
parallel to road as 
bypass to underpass 
and remove the need 
for users to traverse 
the gradients 

15 =5 Short 

73 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between 
Fettiplace Road 
and Tower Hill 

Add lighting 15 =5 Short 

1 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Woodgreen 
A formal crossing 
within the vicinity of 
Holy Trinity Church 

14 =14 Short 

3a 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Witney 
Road, between 
Jubilee Way and 
North Leigh 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track between 
Jubilee Way and 
Common Road, North 
Leigh 

14 =14 Long 

3c 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Witney 
Road, between 
North Leigh and 
Hanborough 
Station  
 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track between 
Park Road and 
Hanborough Station 

14 =14 Long 

5 Cycling 

B4022 Hailey 
Road, between 
West End and 
Witney Community 
Primary School 
access 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track on the 
western side of 
Hailey Road 

14 =14 Medium 

10c 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link from 
B4022 Oxford Hill, 
in vicinity of 
Madley Brook 

Repair and possible 
widening/re-
alignment of bridges 
along the Madley 
Park/Park View Lane 
track 

14 =14 Medium 

10d 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Bridge between 
Woodbank and 
Northfield Road 

Repair of bridge 
between Woodbank 
and Northfield Road 

14 =14 Medium 

11 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link 
across Oxlease 
Park between 

Widen existing 
footpath and extend 
to and Church Lane 

14 =14 Short 

Page 78



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

65 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 
Cogges Hill Road 
and Church Lane 

to accommodate 
cyclists 

16 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

PRoW 410/41, 
east of Blakes 
Avenue 

Widen existing 
footpath where 
possible, re-surface 
and add lighting 

14 =14 Long 

22 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

South of Witan 
Way roundabout, 
between Station 
Lane and Two 
Rivers Trading 
Estate 

New toucan crossing, 
providing connection 
to new 
footpath/cycleway 
links (19 and 20) 

14 =14 Long 

41 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath linking 
Hyde Meadow 
View and 
Woodford Mill path 
(8) 

Upgrade existing 
footpath by raising 
up, re-surfacing and 
adding lighting. Re-
alignment and 
modifications to 
bridge also required. 

14 =14 Medium 

42 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Curbridge Road in 
the vicinity of the 
Tower Hill 
Cemetery 

New controlled 
crossing  

14 =14 Short 

49 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A415 Ducklington 
Lane 

New links between 
Ducklington Lane and 
Queen Emma's Dyke 

14 =14 Short 

56 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Woodgreen 
(Narrow Hill) 

Restrict motorised 
traffic to access only, 
in southbound 
direction and add 
signage to allow 
contra-flow cycling 

14 =14 Short 

85 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095 Burford 
Road 

Upgrade of existing 
segregated shared 
footway/cycleway to 
footway and two-way 
segregated track 

14 =14 Long 

95 Cycling Corn Street 
Two-way segregated 
cycle track on Corn 
Street 

14 =14 Medium 

99 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Ducklington Lane 
Roundabout, 
adjacent to A40 
western slips 

Introduce sparrow 
crossings at the 
roundabout. 
Crossings required 
on Ducklington Lane, 
A415 and A40 slip 
roads (as a 
minimum). These 
could be standalone 
or as part of a 
junction signalisation. 

14 =14 Short 

10a 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link from 
B4022 Oxford Hill, 
in vicinity of 
Madley Brook 

Resurfacing of Public 
Right of Way 410/4 
running parallel to the 

13 =30 Short 

Page 79



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

66 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 
Madley Park cycle 
track to allow cycling 

10b 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link 
between B4022 
Oxford Hill and 
Woodbank  in 
vicinity of Newland 
allotments 

Ground lighting along 
section (circa 75m) of 
path parallel to 
Newland allotments 

13 =30 Short 

12 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Cogges Hill Road, 
north of Blakes 
Avenue 

New toucan crossing 
to link pedestrians 
and cyclists to East 
Witney development 
and existing PRoW 
410/7 

13 =30 Long 

14 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Stanton Harcourt 
Road, between 
shared use path 

New raised controlled 
crossing 

13 =30 Short 

18 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Farm Mill Lane, 
between Witan 
Way and Station 
Lane 

Re-surfacing, lighting 
and widening where 
possible of shared 
use path  

13 =30 Short 

23 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022, Oxford Hill, 
east of the 
Windrush 
Cemetery 

New toucan crossing  13 =30 Long 

25 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Stanton Harcourt 
Road, south of 
Eton Close  

New toucan crossing  13 =30 Long 

33 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Bridleway between 
Deer Park Road 
and Downs Road 

Widen, provide 
lighting and re-
surface existing 
bridleway 

13 =30 Medium 

39 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Curbridge 
Road/Deer Park 
Road 

Roundabout with 
protected space for 
cycling (also known 
as a Dutch-style 
roundabout) 

13 =30 Long 

43 Cycling 

Curbridge Road, 
between Deer 
Park Road and 
Tower Hill 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track on the 
northern side of 
Curbridge Road 
(likely to be shared in 
places near Fiveways 
Roundabout) 

13 =30 Long 

46 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Tower Hill in the 
vicinity of 
Windrush Valley 
Road 

New controlled 
crossing  

13 =30 Short 

63 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Witan Way, 
between Station 
Lane and Two 
Rivers Trading 
Estate 

Upgrade of 
uncontrolled crossing 
to a controlled 
crossing, linking to 
employment and Job 
Centre 

13 =30 Short 

Page 80



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

67 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 

64 Cycling Welch Way  

Realign hedgerow to 
accommodate space 
for a two-way 
segregated cycle 
track 

13 =30 Short 

66 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
Newland Mill and 
Church Lane 

Re-surface path and 
widen footway to 
allow shared space 
(to reflect the 
meadow setting) 

13 =30 Short 

68 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Woodstock Road, 
footpath adjacent 
to driveway for 
120-122 

Barriers filter cyclists 
towards blind 
entrance with 
residential drive. 
Realign barriers and 
add signage to warn 
of conflict 

13 =30 Short 

75 Walking 
Woodford 
Way/Welch Road:  

Long wait time for 
pedestrians crossing 
Woodford Way at 
signal controlled 
junction. Review 
signal timings 

13 =30 Short 

77 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link at 
Spring Close 

Add lighting 13 =30 Short 

78 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath parallel 
to Gordon Way 

Widen where 
possible 

13 =30 Short 

81 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 Oxford 
Hill/Jubilee Way 

Upgrade junction to 
MOVA and review 
staging 

13 =30 Short 

83 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Path connecting 
Downs Road and 
Centenary Way 
parallel to the A40 

Upgrade path to 
accommodate a 
shared 
footway/cycleway 

13 =30 Long 

94 Cycling Thorney Leys 
Two-way segregated 
cycle track along 
Thorney Leys 

13 =30 Long 

98 Walking 

A4095 Burford 
Road, in the 
vicinity of 
Windrush Valley 
Road 

New pedestrian 
crossing to help 
access bus stops 
east of Windrush 
Valley Road 

13 =30 Short 

2b Cycling 

Woodstock Road 
between Wood 
Green School and 
Jubilee Way 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track on the 
western side of the 
Woodstock Road 

12 =52 Long 

3b 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

A4095, between 
Common Road 
and Park Road, 
North Leigh 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track on the 
western side of 
A4095  past North 
Leigh, removing need 

12 =52 Long 

Page 81



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

68 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 
to go through North 
Leigh 

6 Cycling 

B4022 Hailey 
Road, between  
Witney Community 
Primary School 
access and Hailey 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track Witney 
Community Primary 
School access and 
Hailey  

12 =52 Long 

13 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Shared use path 
parallel to Stanton 
Harcourt Road 

Widening of existing 
segregated shared 
use 
footpath/cycleway 

12 =52 Medium 

15 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Cogges Hill Road, 
between shared 
use path 

New raised controlled 
crossing 

12 =52 Medium 

17 Cycling 

Witan Way 
between Des 
Roches Square 
(Sainsbury's 
access) and High 
Street 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track on the 
western side of Witan 
Way.  

12 =52 Long 

26 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
Stanton Harcourt 
Road and PRoW 
410/41 (East 
Witney SDA) 

New shared use 
footpath/cycleway  

12 =52 Long 

27 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
PRoW 410/41 and 
B4022 Oxford Hill 

Upgrade of PRoW 
410/41 to a shared 
use 
footpath/cycleway 
from the East Witney 
site to B4022 Oxford 
Hill 

12 =52 Long 

28 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Witan Way/Farm 
Mill Lane 

Upgrade existing 
uncontrolled crossing 
to a controlled 
crossing such as a 
raised tiger crossing. 

12 =52 Medium 

30 Cycling 
B4047 Burford 
Road/Deer Park 
Road junction 

Upgrade pedestrian 
crossing to a toucan 
crossing 

12 =52 Medium 

55 Walking 
Cogges Hill 
Road/Cogges Hill 
Road 

Uncontrolled crossing 
required 

12 =52 Medium 

57 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath in the 
vicinity of Farmers 
Close (between 
numbers 126 and 
148) 

Widen where 
possible and re-align 
barriers 

12 =52 Medium 

67 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Multiple locations Wayfinding 12 =52 Medium 

69 Walking 
A4095 Burford 
Road in vicinity of 
Moor Avenue 

Build-out within layby 
to make crossing 

12 =52 Medium 

Page 82



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

69 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 
movements safer and 
easier 

71 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Path linking 
Cogges Hill 
Church and 
Church Lane 

Remove barriers 12 =52 Medium 

74 Walking 
Moorland 
Road/Moor Ave 
junction 

Move uncontrolled 
crossing further into 
Moorland Road to 
provide safer 
crossing 

12 =52 Medium 

80 Walking 
Witan Way, north 
of Waine Rush 
View 

Provide controlled 
pedestrian crossing 
north of Waine Rush 
View 

12 =52 Medium 

89 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between West 
End/Hailey Road 
junction and 
Burford 
Road/Woodford 
Way junction 

West End Link 2 to 
include segregated 
walking and cycling 
routes 

12 =52 Long 

19 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
Stanton Harcourt 
Road and Station 
Lane/Witan Way 

New shared use 
footpath/cycleway 
linking Stanton 
Harcourt Rd across 
open land to 
proposed new river 
crossing (21b)  

11 =70 Long 

20 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
Cogges Hill Road 
and Station 
Lane/Witan Way 

New shared use 
footpath/cycleway 
across open land to 
proposed new river 
crossing (21b) 

11 =70 Long 

21a 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
Station Lane/Witan 
Way and new river 
crossing 

Links between new 
river crossing and 
Station Lane/Witan 
Way and Farm Mill 
Lane 

11 =70 Long 

24 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

B4022 Oxford Hill, 
between South 
Leigh and the new 
toucan crossing 
(23) 

New shared use 
footway/cycleway on 
the southern side of 
Oxford Hill  

11 =70 Medium 

29 Cycling 
B4047 Burford 
Road/Downs Road 
junction 

Upgrade pedestrian 
crossing to a toucan 
crossing 

11 =70 Medium 

38 Cycling 

Curbridge Road 
between Spring 
Meadow and Deer 
Park Road 

Reduce length of 
right-turn pocket and 
extend shared-use 
section to the 
roundabout 

11 =70 Medium 

58 Walking 
B4022 Hailey 
Road between 
Farmers Close 

New uncontrolled 
crossing closer to the 
junction 

11 =70 Medium 

Page 83



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

70 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 
and Taphouse 
Avenue 

59 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath link 
between Eastfield 
Road and Vanner 
Road 

Widen cut through, 
where possible 

11 =70 Medium 

60 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Ashcombe Close 
link to Corn Street 

Widen gap in the wall 
and re-align 
footway/cycleway 

11 =70 Medium 

62 Walking 

Market Square, 
crossing on 
Langdale 
Gate/Corn Street 
roundabout's 
southern arm 

Pedestrian crossing 
movements on south 
of Langdale Gate are 
unclear and can be 
confused with 
motorcycle parking.  
Enhance pedestrian 
areas to make 
crossing movements 
clearer 

11 =70 Medium 

70 Walking 
A4095 Burford 
Road, east of 
Springfield Park 

Widen footway into 
adjacent verge 

11 =70 Medium 

72 Walking 

Tower Hill 
between Windrush 
Valley Road and 
Wilkinson Place 

Convert verge on 
western side of 
Tower Hill (between 
Windrush Valley 
Road and Wilkinson 
Place) to footway, 
providing continuous 
footway connection 

11 =70 Medium 

76 Walking 

Market Square 
western footway, 
south of 
Marlborough Lane 

Review bollard 
locations and 
potential to extend 
build-out to remove 
pinchpoint 

11 =70 Medium 

86 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Oxford Hill, 
between Cogges 
Hill Road and east 
of Windrush 
Cemetery 

New shared use 
footway/cycleway on 
the southern side of 
Oxford Hill  

11 =70 Medium 

87 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

King George's 
Field, north of 
Newland 

Shared use 
footpath/cycleway 
around King George's 
Field 

11 =70 Medium 

4 Walking 

Station Lane, in 
vicinity of Avenue 
One and Gordon 
Lane 

Provision of 
controlled crossing 

10 =85 Long 

36 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
Colletts Way and 
Leslie Harvey 
Close 

New link between 
employment park and 
housing estate 

10 =85 Long 

Page 84



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

71 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 

54 Walking 
Cogges Hill Road, 
north of Blakes 
Avenue 

Formalisation of 
western path by re-
surfacing 

10 =85 Long 

61 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footway between 
Moorland Road 
and Woodford 
Way 

Widen where 
possible, add lighting 

10 =85 Long 

88 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

New road linking 
Hailey Road and 
Woodstock Road 
(part of North 
Witney SDA) 

New northern 
distributor road 

10 =85 Long 

90 Cycling 
Witney Road, 
between Carterton 
and Witney 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track (some 
land take may be 
required) 

10 =85 Long 

21b 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

East of Farm Mill 
Lane, over the 
River Windrush 

New southern river 
crossing (pedestrians 
and cyclists only) 

9 =91 Long 

31 Walking 

Deer Park Road, 
in the vicinity of 
the footpath south 
of Valence 
Crescent 

New uncontrolled 
pedestrian crossing  

9 =91 Long 

34 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between 
Downs Road and 
Book End 

Maintenance of 
vegetation, lighting 
required 

9 =91 Long 

37 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Link between 
Downs Road and 
Chipmunk 
Drive/College 
Place 

New link between 
Downs Road and 
housing estate 

9 =91 Long 

50 Walking 
Footpath next to 
Lakeside 
Allotments 

Widen path where 
possible 

9 =91 Long 

51 Walking 
Footpath next to 
Lakeside 
Allotments 

Remove barriers 
(kissing gates) or 
widen to safely allow 
for inclusive access 

9 =91 Long 

52 Walking 
Witney Road, in 
the vicinity of Dale 
Walk, Ducklington 

Uncontrolled crossing 
required, narrowing of 
carriageway and 
widening of footway 

9 =91 Long 

53 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Shared use path 
parallel to B4047 
Burford Road 

Resurfacing of off-
road path to provide 
smooth surface. 
Lighting also required  

9 =91 Long 

79 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Downs 
Road/Centenary 
Way roundabout 

New toucan crossing 
across the southern 
arm of Downs Road 
to connect the two 
cycle routes (ref 83 
and 90) 

9 =91 Long 

Page 85



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

72 

 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 
Prioritisation 

Score 
Prioritisation 

Rank 
Delivery 

Timescale 

82 Walking 
West End, east of 
Hailey Road/West 
End roundabout 

Add chicane on 
outbound/westbound 
carriageway to allow 
for footway widening 
at the pinchpoint 

9 =91 Long 

97 Walking 
Cogges Hill 
Road/B4022 
Oxford Hill 

New footpath to the 
south of Oxford Hill 
between Oxford 
Hill/Jubilee Way to 
Windrush Cemetery 

9 =91 Long 

35 
Walking 

& 
Cycling 

Footpath between 
Book End and 
Range Road 

Widen existing path 8 102 Long 

96 Cycling A415/Aston Mile 

Crossing on A415 
between Aston & 
Ducklington to link 
proposed routes 

7 103 Long 

91 Cycling 

B4449 Aston 
Road, between 
Bampton and 
Aston 

Two-way segregated 
cycle track (some 
land take may be 
required) 

6 =104 Long 

92 Cycling 
Aston Mile,  
between Bampton 
and Ducklington  

Two-way segregated 
cycle track (some 
land take may be 
required) 

6 =104 Long 

 

 

Page 86



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

73 

 

 

Figure 22: Proposed improvements by short, medium and long term delivery timescale - Witney

P
age 87



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

74 

 

 

Figure 23: Proposed improvements by short, medium and long term delivery timescale – Witney and surrounding area

P
age 88



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

75 

 

5.2. Packages of Improvements 

Whilst each improvement can be implemented as a standalone scheme, in some cases the 
proposals work together to improve a whole route. The improvements have been grouped 
into eleven geographical packages. Figure 24 illustrates the corridors/areas of packages 
across Witney.   

   

Figure 24: Delivery packages 

Figure 25 and Figure 26 show a more detailed breakdown of the improvements included 
within each package. 

Page 89



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

76 

 

 

Figure 25: East Witney delivery packages 

P
age 90



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

77 

 

 

Figure 26: West Witney delivery packages 

P
age 91



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

 

78 

 

Table 6 shows the breakdown of improvements within each package and the associated 
cost of delivering the whole package. The packages have not been prioritised in delivery 
order but have been grouped geographically along corridors or areas. The cost rank shows 
1 as the highest cost package and eleven as the lowest cost package. A more detailed 
version of table 6 is available in Appendix D.  

 Table 6: Total cost of packages 

 

The costs presented in Table 6 are estimates based on potential constructions costs and 
not including planning or contingency costs. They can be used as a guide; however, all 
improvements require feasibility design to ascertain a more accurate cost.   

5.3. Appraisal  

Each measure or package of improvements will require a business case, setting out how 
the improvement will meet the objectives and provide value for money. This will also be 
based on a preliminary design appraisal that will adhere to the latest design guidance, both 
national guidance such as LTN 1/20 and local guidance produced by OCC.  As it is not yet 
known which funding streams may be available to deliver the LCWIP improvements, no 
further appraisal has been undertaken at this stage. 

 

14 Improvement 88 and 89 are not included in the cost estimate. 

Package Improvements Included 
Total Package 

Cost 
Cost 
Rank 

Woodstock Road 1, 2a, 2b, 3a, 3b, 3c, 56,68 £14,347,500 1 

Hailey Road 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 41, 57, 58, 59, 82 £5,940,875 6 

Burford Road 29, 30, 53, 69, 70, 85, 98 £6,013,000  5 

West Witney 32, 33, 44, 45, 46, 64, 72, 73, 75 £1,959,300 9 

Witney Road 38, 42, 43, 60, 62, 76, 79, 83, 90  £10,885,350 3 

Ducklington Lane 47, 48, 49, 93, 96, 99 £13,644,250 2 

South Witney 4, 50, 51, 52, 77, 78 £257,700  11 

Witan Way 17, 18, 22, 28, 63, 79, 80 £2,345,000  8 

East Witney 
11, ,12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 19, 20, 
21a, 21b, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 54, 
55, 71, 81, 86, 97 

£7,793,800 4 

Newland 66, 87 £564,500 10 

Madley Paths 10a, 10b, 10c, 10d, 65 £3,082,000 7 

Improvements not 
in packages 

31, 34, 35, 36, 37, 39, 40, 61, 
67, 74, 88, 89, 94 

£7,139,39014  
Not 

Applicable 

Page 92



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

79 

 

6. Integration and Application   

6.1. Embedding the Witney LCWIP 

The Oxfordshire Local Transport and Connectivity Plan and Witney Area Travel Plan 

The Witney LCWIP will form a key component of the Witney Area Travel Plan, which is a 

supporting document to LTCP. The Witney Area Travel Plan will identify how the policies in 

LTCP can be applied to the Witney area through a series of actions. These actions cover all 

types of transport, such as public transport and road schemes as well as cycling and walking.  

The improvements in this LCWIP are key actions that will improve cycling and walking in 

Witney and the surrounding area, contributing to healthy place shaping and addressing the 

climate emergency.  

 

Future developments 

The improvements identified in this LCWIP are required to facilitate sustainable travel in 

Witney and the surrounding area. It is important to embed sustainable travel choices from 

first occupation of new developments.  Contributions from developers will be sought and/or 

developers will be requested to provide the improvements identified in this LCWIP where 

they are relevant to their development. Additional improvements may be identified as this 

LCWIP is reviewed or through the individual planning application processes.  

Funding bids 

The prioritised measure list in this LCWIP will support future funding bids, by guiding what 

funding should be sought and where it should be spent. This LCWIP provides an evidence-

based justification for the improvements proposed, which gives weight to the need for 

funding. Funding opportunities can arise from a variety of sources, including central 

government, Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership, planning obligations from 

development and internal OCC funds.  

Funded improvements 

Funding has been secured for the following proposed improvements shown in Table 7. 

  

 

• Local Transport and Connectivity Plan (parent document) 
o Witney Area Travel Plan (place-based document) 

▪ Witney LCWIP (supporting document) 
   

Page 93



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

80 

 

Table 7: Proposed improvements with funding secured 

Ref 
no. 

Benefit 
to 

Location  Description 

33 
Walking & 
Cycling 

Bridleway between Deer Park 
Road and Downs Road 

Widen, provide lighting and re-surface existing 
bridleway 

32 Walking & 
Cycling 

Deer Park Road, south of Range 
Road linking Deer Park Road and 
the Bridleway 

Controlled toucan or sparrow crossing  

33 
Walking & 
Cycling 

Bridleway between Deer Park 
Road and Downs Road 

Widen, provide lighting and re-surface existing 
bridleway 

76 Walking Market Square western footway, 
south of Marlborough Lane 

Review bollard locations and potential to extend 
build-out to remove pinch point 

100 Walking & 
Cycling 

High Street and Market Square 
from Welch Way to Church Green 

Active travel tranche 3 scheme - improve the 
public realm to make the High Street a more 
accessible, pleasant environment for people to 
walk, cycle and spend time. 

 

Initiatives to support infrastructure improvements  

To support the implementation of infrastructure improvements, initiatives will be needed that 

engage and empower the community to choose cycling and walking for journeys. These 

initiatives can include cycle hire schemes and cycle training. We will work with colleagues, 

such as those in public health, and local stakeholders to bring forward improvements.    

6.2. Reviewing the Witney LCWIP  

This LCWIP will be regularly reviewed to ensure that progress is being made in achieving 

the vision for cycling and walking in Witney, and that the improvements reflect the needs of 

the community.  

Understanding changes in the number of people cycling and walking in association with the 

implementation of improvements, will be important in showing whether this LCWIP is 

effective. OCC have permanent cycle counters installed in Witney, which provide daily 

counts of people cycling at that location. These counts can then be compared over time. 

There are a range of methods for counting the number of people walking. These are often 

ad hoc surveys that are commissioned over a specified period e.g., one week, and make 

use of CCTV cameras.  

Stages of monitoring and review 

1. A baseline level of the current number of people cycling and walking will be 

established by using the permanent cycle counters and conducting walking surveys. 

 

2. The Witney LCWIP will be reviewed every 2 years. A supplementary document will 

be produced. This will include a review of progress against the LCWIP targets and 

local monitoring data for levels of cycling and walking in Witney and the level of 

change recorded in association with implemented improvements.  

Page 94



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

81 

 

 

3. The Witney LCWIP will be updated and re-issued, if necessary, to reflect the current 

situation and aspirations.  

Page 95



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

82 

 

7. Glossary 

Active travel  ‘Making journeys in physically active ways – like walking, 
wheeling (using a wheelchair or mobility aid), cycling, or 
scooting’.15 

Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMA) 

Areas where air pollution levels exceed the accepted national 
air quality objectives. 

All bike types Refers to all forms of bicycle including standard bikes, cargo 
bikes, tandem bikes, and tricycles etc. 

Appraisal  An assessment  

Areas of deprivation  Areas that do not have something that is essential for day-to-
day life and where there are less opportunities compared to 
other areas 

At-grade controlled 
crossing  

A signalised (traffic light) crossing across a road 

Audit The examination of something against set criteria  

Boardwalk  An elevated path often made of wood 

Bridleway  A path or track where horse riders have right of way which 
can also be used for walking and cycling 

Conservation Area An area of historic, architectural or rural significance that has 
been designated for protection. This places restrictions on the 
changes that can be made in the area. 

Contraflow cycle lane  A cycle lane which allows people cycling to travel in the 
opposite direction to other traffic. Often used on one-way 
roads to allow people cycling a direct passage along the 
road.16 

Department for Transport 
(DfT)  

The government department responsible for the English 
transport network 

Desire lines The most direct route for people cycling or walking to travel; 
this may not be a formal path 

Dropped kerbs  Features to facilitate non-stepped access to allow 
wheelchair/mobility aid users and people with pushchairs to 
cross the road unimpeded. 

 

15  Paths for all, About Active Travel, https://www.pathsforall.org.uk/about-active-travel 

16 Photo credit: TSRGD 2016, Diagram 960.2 

Page 96



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

83 

 

Dutch-style roundabout  As the name suggests, this type of roundabout has been 
inspired by the Dutch, with a priority lane for people 
cycling around the outside of the roundabout and 
controlled crossings on each arm of the junction for 
people walking. Vehicles are expected to give way to 
people cycling and walking crossing at the entry/exit 
arms of the roundabout. 

Feasibility How easy something is to do 

Footway buildout   Widenings of footways that run beside a carriageway to 
provide greater space for people walking to wait, to reduce 
the crossing distances or to improve the visibility between 
people walking and other road users.   

Formal pedestrian crossing  A signal-controlled crossing for people walking across a road 

Guard railing  Safety features often made of metal that are placed on a path 
to slow down people cycling and walking to prevent conflict 
between different users and alert to hazards including a road. 

Highway boundary  The extent of the highway and land owned, managed or 
controlled by the highway authority 

Isochrone  A line on a map or diagram that connects places that take the 
same time to travel to from a specified point 

Killed or seriously injured 
(KSI) 

Standard metric used to measure road safety 

Kissing gate  A gate that allows people but not livestock to pass through 
and has a standard gate and half-round or V-shape feature 

Land take  An area of land required for infrastructure  

Link footway  Linking local access footways through urban areas and busy 
rural footways 

Local access footways  Footways associated with low usage, short estate roads to 
the main roads and cul-de-sacs 

Local cycling and walking 
infrastructure plan (LCWIP) 

Strategic policy documents that identify improvements to 
active travel infrastructure at the local level 

Local cycle connection  Cycle route where lower flows of people cycling are forecast 
along desire lines that cater for local cycle trips, often 
providing links to primary or secondary desire lines 

Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) 

Voluntary partnerships between local authorities and 
businesses 

Page 97



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

84 

 

Local Transport and 
Connectivity Plan (LTCP) 

Oxfordshire County Council’s new Local Transport Plan 
(2022) 

Long term  Typically more than 5 years – more aspirational 
improvements or those awaiting a defined solution 

Lower Super Output Area 
(LSOA) 

A geographic area that has a population of approximately 
1,500 and is based on Census data 

Medium term  Typically less than 5 years – improvements where there is a 
clear intention to act, but delivery is dependent on further 
funding availability or other issues. 

Network plan A map showing routes for cycling and walking and how these 
connect together between origins and destinations  

Non-committed  Used to describe a proposed development site which does 
not yet have planning permission approved.  

Pelican crossing  A type of controlled pedestrian crossing. These are signalised 
(traffic light) crossings and require people walking to press 
the button and wait for the green man to appear before 
crossing the road. 

Permanent cycle counters  OCC owned counters on roads that continuously count how 
many people are cycling at that location. This data is 
projected onto an online platform that can then be analysed.  

Place shaping  Multi-faceted approach to creating public places that support 
health, well-being and happiness and increase people's 
connection to the place, thereby maximising the shared value 
of public places. 

Prestige/primary walking 
route 

Very busy areas of town, with high public space and street 
scene contribution and main walking routes 

Primary cycle connection High flows of people cycling are forecast along desire lines 
that link large residential areas to trip attractors such as town 
centre 

Propensity to Cycle Tool 
(PCT) 

A tool that shows routes where cycling is currently common 
and routes where there is the potential for cycling to increase 

Public Rights of Way 
(PRoW) 

Network of routes where public use is legally protected 

Public transport  Transport that is available to the public for a set fare and 
includes buses and trains 

Puffin crossing  A type of controlled pedestrian crossing. These are signalised 
(traffic light) crossings similar to Pelican crossings in that they 
require people walking to press the button. However, they are 
more advanced than Pelican crossings as they can detect 

Page 98



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

85 

 

people walking in the waiting area and also whilst they are 
crossing the road.  

Raised table  A raised table is a form of traffic calming which aims to slow 
the speed of vehicles and to emphasise features such as 
crossing points. They are sometimes used at the entry of a 
side road to provide a level surface for people walking to 
cross the road without the need for dropped kerbs.    

Refuge island A small area of footway in the centre of the road to allow 
people walking to cross in two stages. Refuge islands are 
usually found on roads with higher speeds and greater 
numbers of vehicles where crossing in a single movement is 
more difficult. 

Route Selection Tool (RST) A tool for assessing the suitability of a route in its existing 
condition against the core design outcomes to identify where 
improvements need to be made 

Rural hinterland  The rural area surrounding a town or city 

Secondary cycle 
connection 

Medium flows of people cycling are forecast along desire lines 
that link to trip attractors such as schools, colleges and 
employment sites 

Secondary walking route   Medium, usage routes through local areas feeding into 
primary routes, local shopping centres, etc 

Service centre A place that provides a range of everyday services such as 
shops, schooling and medical to many people living both in 
the immediate area and further afield who lack services where 
they live 

Service road A road that runs parallel to the main road and provides access 
to properties 

Segregated cycle track  A cycle facility physically segregated from vehicles and 
people walking 

Segregated shared 
footway/cycleway  

A footway that legally allows cycling, with separate spaces for 
people walking and cycling. Segregation is usually light and 
consists of signage and markings. 

Shared use 
footway/cycleway  

Shared use paths allow people cycling and walking to share 
the space, although people walking have priority. These 
paths are identified by a blue circle with a white symbol of 
people walking and a bike.17 

Sheffield cycle stand A metal cycle stand that is inverted U shaped 

 

17 Photo credit: TSRGD 2016, Diagram 956 

Page 99



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

86 

 

Short term  Typically less than 3 years – improvements which can be 
implemented quickly or are under development 

Sparrow crossing  A sparrow crossing is the same as a tiger crossing; however, 
it is at a signal-controlled (traffic light) junction18 

Steering group  A group of local stakeholders and council officers, which 
gathers to discuss progress and ideas and ensures that local 
views are represented 

Strategic Development 
Areas (SDA)  

A large-scale site that has been allocated for development of 
houses and/or employment. This is included within the local 
plan. 

Tactile paving  There are different types of tactile paving with the purpose 
providing a warning to visually impaired people who would 
otherwise find it difficult to differentiate between where the 
footway ends, and the carriageway begins. 

Tiger crossing (Parallel crossing) – A tiger crossing consists of a zebra 
crossing with a parallel priority space for people cycling to 
cross. 

Topography  The natural form and features of an area 

Toucan crossing  A signal-controlled (traffic light) crossing that allows people 
walking and cycling to cross together. Toucan crossings are 
usually wider than standard pedestrian crossings to 
accommodate people cycling safely.   

Trip generator An area or place people travel from and to 

Uncontrolled pedestrian 
crossing    

Unlike controlled crossings, people walking must wait for 
traffic to stop or for a suitable gap in order to cross the road. 
These crossings may include dropped kerbs, tactile paving 
and a refuge island.  

Walking Route Audit Tool 
(WRAT) 

A tool developed to assess the condition and suitability of 
walking routes. This requires evaluation of features along the 
route including crossings and dropped kerbs. 

Wayfinding  Signage to support people walking and cycling navigate their 
way around a place 

Wheeled users People who use a mobility scooter or wheelchair instead of 
walking. Also includes people with pushchairs and who travel 

 

18 Photo credit: https://www.stockport.gov.uk/news/stockports-first-bee-network-scheme-which-will-be-part-

of-greater 

Page 100



Witney Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
 

87 

 

by small, self-propelled wheeled modes such as skateboards, 
rollerblades and scooters.  

Zebra crossing  A type of controlled pedestrian crossing. These crossings are 
marked out by black and white stripes across the road with 
flashing beacons and zig zag markings. 

 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Sent by email 16/12/2022 

 

 

 

Dear Witney Town Council and Oxfordshire County Council 

 

I am writing to thank you for implementing the 20 mph speed limit on Woodstock Road, Witney. As 

Headteacher of Wood Green, I have long been concerned about the level of risk of an accident involving one of 

our students crossing Woodstock Road, given the speed of traffic. Despite improved markings, this speed has 

not reduced over time. 

 

In recent weeks, the speed of traffic has decreased noticeably and the road crossing feels considerably safer. 

Although only my anecdotal view, as the Head and also a resident of Woodstock Road living directly opposite 

school I feel fairly qualified to comment! I know there have been issues with implementation and some 

opposition, but I wanted to express that I feel this has been a very positive step to improve safety for children 

in our schools. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 
 

Mr R Shadbolt 

Headteacher 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8a



This page is intentionally left blank



Email Exchange from Mr S Brewer to Witney Town Council 

 
Sent: 15 November 2022 17:34 
To: Info <info@witney-tc.gov.uk> 
Subject: 20mph limit 
  
Hi was just wondering how you are to control bicycles on the speed limit as now they go past us 
drivers at more than 20mph 
You cant have a speed limit for 1 and not the other  
Are bicycles going to have to be registered and display a number to identify when speed cameras are 
about  
I would appreciate a prompt reply  
  
Thankyou  
S Brewer 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
From: Witney Town Council 

Sent: Wednesday, November 16, 2022 12:59:00 PM 

Subject: FW: 20mph limit  

Dear Mr Brewer 
  
Thank you for your email regarding the 20mph scheme introduced by Oxfordshire County Council. I 
will pass this to be considered by the members of the Witney Traffic Advisory Group.  
 
Their next meeting is to be held on 10th January 2023. 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
From: S Brewer  

Sent: 16 November 2022 18:11 

Subject: Re: 20mph limit 

Many thanks  

I will await the response as this is very concerning  

When the police are out catching cars speeding  

The pushbikes need to be abiding by the speed limit  

Regards 

S Brewer   

 
 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8b

mailto:info@witney-tc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Dear Andrew and Adam, 
 
Residents on Madley Park remain upset about the parking on Harvest Way, particularly near the 
Barleyfield Way turn. They have heard back from me recently and from Duncan over the years that 
planners and the police consider the parking to be a traffic calming feature. There is some 
acceptance of this but people still think the resultant single-lane stretch is too long, making drivers 
impatient and cross.  
 
A new angle that has emerged, however, is the crossing. There's a crossing, indicated merely by 
dropped kerbs, on the end of the parking stretch, towards Co-op. Residents say that the parking 
restricts visibility for crossing and the crossing is unsafe. It's an important route to the shops.  
 
I think they would like the stretch and the crossing looked at again, with changes put in place to 
make the crossing safer, that will hopefully also alleviate the length of the parking stretch. 
 
Could this be included in the next TAC meeting please? 
 
Best wishes, 
Cllr Ruth Smith. 
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8c



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3a To adopt and sign as a correct  record the minutes of the meeting held on 27th September (copy enclosed)
	4a Traffic Schemes Area Operations - Oxfordshire County Council
	4b Traffic & Road Safety - Oxfordshire County Council
	6 Witney Local Cycling & Walking Infrastructure Plan
	Figures
	Tables
	Contents of Appendices
	Acknowledgements
	Executive summary
	1. Introduction
	1.1. What is the Witney LCWIP?
	1.2. Developing the Witney LCWIP
	DfT guidance
	Steering group
	Public engagement
	Consultant support

	1.3. Why are cycling and walking important?
	1.4. Why is the LCWIP important for Witney now?
	1.5. Vision
	1.6. Targets

	2. Background
	2.1. Local geography
	2.2. LCWIP study area
	2.3. Policy context
	2.4. Demographics
	2.5. Environment
	2.6. Travel and transport

	3. Network plan for cycling
	3.1. Methodology
	Identifying trip generators
	Identifying cycle desire lines
	Identifying cycling network improvements
	Types of improvements

	3.2. Proposed cycling improvements
	3.3. Complementary measures

	4. Network Map for Walking
	4.1. Methodology
	Identifying a hierarchy of walking routes
	Identifying walking network improvements
	Types of improvements

	4.2. Proposed walking improvements
	4.3. Complementary measures

	5. Prioritisation of improvements and Packaging of improvements
	5.1. Prioritisation of improvements
	5.2. Packages of Improvements
	5.3. Appraisal

	6. Integration and Application
	6.1. Embedding the Witney LCWIP
	6.2. Reviewing the Witney LCWIP

	7. Glossary

	8a 20MPH on Woodstock Road
	8b Cyclists and Enforcement of 20MPH Speed Limit
	8c Madley Park Pedestrian Crossing

